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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Good morning, oh

          3  I guess I was expecting like a response, like in

          4  church when you say good morning.

          5                 Good morning, and welcome to the

          6  Parks and Recreation's Committee hearing on the

          7  Fiscal 2007 Preliminary Budget.

          8                 I am Council Member Helen Diane

          9  Foster, and I am Chair of this Committee.

         10                 Before we begin, let me introduce my

         11  committee members.  We have Council Member Dennis

         12  Gallagher from Queens, we have Freddie Kaplan who is

         13  the attorney for the Committee, we have Chima who is

         14  the analyst, Jonathan who does capital, Patrick is

         15  in the corner, and we are joined by Councilman

         16  Monserrate.

         17                 Today we will hear testimony from

         18  Commissioner Benepe on various Preliminary Budgetary

         19  actions, and their impact on the agencies ability to

         20  carry out its mission.  The Committee hopes for a

         21  mutual and beneficial discussion on many issues of

         22  importance to the Parks Department, including new

         23  revenue initiatives in the Fiscal 2007 Budget,

         24  maintenance and operation issues, and the Fiscal

         25  2006- 2009 Capital Budget.
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          2                 During last years budget

          3  negotiations, the Council was successful in

          4  restoring and adding funding to the Parks

          5  Department.

          6                 Once again, despite the Council's

          7  best efforts, the Fiscal 2007 Preliminary Budget, as

          8  proposed by the Mayor, does not restore this

          9  funding, totaling $11.7 million for PEP officers,

         10  seasonal workers, tree pruning and stump removal

         11  contracts.

         12                 Thus, we commence an annual budget

         13  dance, a process by which the Council restores and

         14  adds money to the budget for vital needs and

         15  services, and the Administration refuses to baseline

         16  it.  Not restoring this funding affects peoples

         17  lives.  We really need to end this, and allow

         18  agencies to do long- term planning in an effective

         19  way.

         20                 As we all know, the case for public

         21  funding for public space is both sound and

         22  fundamental.  Greenspace improves quality of life in

         23  our neighborhoods, and provides avenues for

         24  recreation to millions of City residents.  As such,

         25  the importance of parks and open spaces are
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          2  sufficient in themselves to warrant significant City

          3  investment.

          4                 I hope the Administration takes the

          5  necessary steps to ensure that our public parks are

          6  adequately funded in 2007 and beyond.

          7                 Before we hear from Commissioner

          8  Benepe, and he introduces the park staff that is

          9  with him, let me just- as I came in, I met two

         10  gentlemen that goes to exactly what we are talking

         11  today in terms of budget cuts and not baselining

         12  issues.  Two gentlemen, Brett Healy (phonetic) and

         13  Ralph Bassolise (phonetic), I want these two

         14  gentlemen to stand up.  They are PEP officers who

         15  prevented a rape happening in Forest Park, who in

         16  June- exactly, let us give them a hand.  And in

         17  June, if do not restore this funding and add money

         18  to it, these gentlemen will no longer be there.  We

         19  can sit in a nice City Hall chambers and talk about

         20  dollars and cents, but these are the gentlemen that

         21  are out there, and this is what we are talking

         22  about.  They prevented a woman from being raped, and

         23  we have to make what we do here translate so that we

         24  make sure there is another Ralph, and another Brett

         25  out there so they can prevent any type of harm
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          2  coming to anyone, not just a woman but anyone in the

          3  park.

          4                 So, Brett and Ralph, thank you, and

          5  we are going to do something for you in City Hall

          6  with the whole council to acknowledge what you did

          7  because you were doing your job, but you saved

          8  someone- a woman from getting probably attacked, the

          9  worse way that she can.  So, thank you very much.

         10                 Good morning Commissioner, you can

         11  start whenever you are ready, and introduce the

         12  whole crew that you have with you.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Good morning,

         14  thank you very much Council Member Foster and

         15  members of the Committee, Council Member Monserrate,

         16  Council Member Gallagher and others who may join us.

         17                 I am Adrian Benepe, the Commissioner

         18  of Parks and Recreation, and joining me from the

         19  Parks Department, sitting in the front row you have

         20  Ed Lewis, Assistant Commissioner of Community

         21  Relations, JoAnne Imochine (phonetic), Assistant

         22  Commissioner for Revenue, Bob Garofolo, Deputy

         23  Commissioner for Management, Kevin Jeffrey, Deputy

         24  Commissioner for Public Programs, David Stark who is

         25  our comptroller, Amy Frietag (phonetic), Deputy

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Commissioner for Capital Projects, William

          3  Cavanaugh, our First Deputy Commissioner, Jane

          4  Rudolph my Chief of Staff, and I think Assistant

          5  Commissioner Joshua Laird is here, Fiona Watt, our

          6  Chief of Forestry and Horticulture.  I see Mike

          7  Dockett (phonetic), Chief of the Urban Park Service,

          8  and Mary Pazon (phonetic), who is our Acco. With the

          9  Capital Projects, and there may be others.  Also,

         10  sitting here with me is Maura Haggerty (phonetic)

         11  who is charge of government relations.

         12                 I want to thank you for the

         13  opportunity to discuss the Fiscal Year 2007

         14  Preliminary Budget.  The winter that we are just

         15  finishing up was marked by 60 degree days, and a

         16  record snowstorm, and you may have noticed that both

         17  ends of the weather spectrum had one thing in

         18  common; parks.

         19                 Where did people spend a rare warm

         20  day in February? Where did parents take their

         21  children to delight in a mid- winter snowstorm?  To

         22  the City's parks.

         23                 Now, why are so many people visiting

         24  our parks?  It is because in modern memory, they

         25  have never been better.  As with the rest of the
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          2  city under Mayor Bloomberg, parks are flourishing.

          3  You can see the results of the Bloomberg

          4  administration all around you. Crime is down, the

          5  schools are getting better, families are staying in

          6  the City, and more people are moving here.

          7                 But, we need to provide for more

          8  places all New Yorkers to relax, for families to

          9  picnic, and for children to play, and we can.

         10                 Thanks to the City Council, which

         11  supported record budgets for Parks, and has

         12  allocated close to $300 million in Capital Funds

         13  over the last four years, we have improved parks

         14  across the City.

         15                 We are beginning this year from a

         16  place of strength, the ratings are high, the capital

         17  budget is large, and our parks have never looked

         18  better.

         19                 With that said, it does not mean that

         20  we cannot do better.  There are still playgrounds

         21  that require capital improvement, parks that need to

         22  be fully developed, and programs that could use more

         23  staff.  But, we will continue to push ahead. We will

         24  work harder, and think of innovative ways to manage

         25  the City's expanding greenspace.

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 We remain focused on our priorities;

          3  putting children first, greening the city, and

          4  community development.

          5                 I want to welcome Council Member

          6  Addabbo, welcome. Good morning.

          7                 Over the next year, we will continue

          8  to draw children to our facilities with fun

          9  programming, we will expand on our greening

         10  initiatives to bring beauty to every corner of the

         11  City, and to keep New York City healthy.

         12                 Finally, we will show how well

         13  maintained parks and greenspace contribute to

         14  community development.

         15                 When we talk about putting children

         16  first, we are committed to just that.  We do this by

         17  building innovative places for our children to play,

         18  through the capital program, by keeping these sites

         19  clean, and safe, and by programming parks and

         20  facilities creatively.  Each year, hundreds of

         21  thousands of young people use our ballfields,

         22  basketball courts, playgrounds, pools, and other

         23  facilities for fitness and fun.

         24                 In addition to those generally served

         25  by these facilities, we also provide thousands of
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          2  children with more structured programming at our

          3  recreation centers and play camps.

          4                 Parks and Recreation has 34

          5  recreation centers across the City.  They offer such

          6  services as indoor pools, weight rooms, basketball

          7  courts, dance studios, and computer resource

          8  centers, and athletic and educational programming.

          9  Our facilities range from small operations with a

         10  singular focus, like senior or arts programming, to

         11  large all- service centers such as St. Mary's in the

         12  Bronx.

         13                 Membership at the City's recreation

         14  centers is a great deal.  For adults 18 and over, an

         15  annual membership at a recreation center with a pool

         16  is only $75.00 a year, which is pennies a day to

         17  stay in shape.  For centers without a pool, it is

         18  only $50.00.  For all children 17 and under, it is

         19  free.  And seniors, people over 55, enjoy a wide

         20  range of activities for only $10.00 a year.

         21                 This year we are instituting

         22  membership fees at six centers that have been funded

         23  with the Federal Community Development Block Grants.

         24    When faced with the prospect of having to raise

         25  fees at some centers, we decided to make the fee
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          2  policy consistent at every center.  There is no

          3  rationale, other than the vagaries of federal

          4  funding, to charge fees at Hansborough and not St.

          5  Mary's, these are centers that are similar in size

          6  and features, and that serve similar communities.

          7  Under our new membership policy, center members will

          8  be able to use all of our centers, and no longer be

          9  limited to one specific facility.

         10                 We offer a variety of free

         11  programming at every recreation center.  On any

         12  afternoon of the week, you can visit 34 locations

         13  with a Parks- run Afterschool Program, and you will

         14  see children warming up with their soccer teams,

         15  staging plays, composing newsletters on computers

         16  and getting help with their homework.  Parks

         17  Afterschool Programs serves over 2,000 children

         18  daily between 3 and 6 p.m.  The $5 million reduction

         19  in the FY`07 Preliminary Budget for the Afterschool

         20  Program will make it difficult to continue serving

         21  thousands of children.

         22                 Mayor Bloomberg has encouraged city

         23  agencies to work together to provide innovative

         24  programs.  Both our Shape Up New York and Step Out

         25  New York City Programs are a testament to the
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          2  renewed spirit of cooperation among city agencies.

          3                 These programs are now located at a

          4  number of New York City housing authority sites.

          5  Last year, Parks and the Department of Education

          6  began Swim to Safety, a water safety program for

          7  children in elementary schools.  Children in schools

          8  located near one of six recreation centers are

          9  offering a program come during the school day, to

         10  take free swimming classes with trained aquatic

         11  instructors.  This year 8,000 children from public

         12  schools are enrolled in Swim to Safety.

         13                 This summer of course, we are

         14  offering our Learn to Swim Program, which teaches

         15  tots, children and adults basic water safety and

         16  swimming skills at every outdoor pool.

         17                 Now, not only is swimming a terrific

         18  form of fitness, but knowing how to swim is itself a

         19  lifesaving skill.  You can save your own life, and

         20  you can save other lives.  Plus, it could lead to a

         21  job as a New York City lifeguard.  But, more on that

         22  later.

         23                 Many of our partners also provide fun

         24  programming for children.  The City Parks

         25  Foundation, for example, offers free tennis and golf
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          2  lessons, as well as track and field, which gives New

          3  York City kids the chance to learn the basics of the

          4  sport from hurdles and relay races, to long jump,

          5  shot put, and javelin throw, and the City Parks

          6  Foundation is expanding its programs to more sites

          7  than ever this summer.

          8                 Greening is another one of our main

          9  priorities, whether it is playing on a soccer team

         10  at a recreation center, or grabbing a game of pick-

         11  up at a playground, Parks is helping keep children

         12  active and fit, and we have all heard about the

         13  crisis of juvenile diabetes and weight- related

         14  diseases, heart disease and so on.  It is really

         15  important to get children started on the right track

         16  for fitness and health.

         17                 It is just as important that they

         18  live in a healthy environment.  That is why greening

         19  the City, from planting small greeting gardens to

         20  planting 10,000 trees a year remains one of our top

         21  priorities.

         22                 We began introducing greeting gardens

         23  to parks in 2003.  It is important to give positive

         24  first impression to all our parks, and this means

         25  ornamental signs, flowering plants, and imaginative
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          2  landscaping at the entrances of many parks.

          3                 Since 2003, we have planted more than

          4  3 million flowers citywide, and we are looking to

          5  add another million or so this year.  It is safe to

          6  say that there have never been more flowers blooming

          7  in New York City's streets, parks, and community

          8  gardens than at this time.

          9                 Another relatively easy way to bring

         10  a small patch of green to the City is by

         11  constructing greenstreets.  This program was begun

         12  in 1996 under Commissioner Henry Stern, in an effort

         13  to turn barren concrete triangles into small green

         14  oases by planting trees, shrubs and flowers.  This

         15  quickly became one of the most popular things that

         16  we do.  We have added more than 100 greenstreets to

         17  New York City's landscape in the last four years.

         18  Our total is now over 2,100.

         19                 We have also looked for innovative

         20  ways to bring color and cheer to New Yorkers all

         21  year round.  Each winter for the last three years,

         22  we have turned our ornamental fountains into

         23  decorative gardens.  With the help of corporate

         24  sponsors, Parks creates seasons displays of hearty

         25  winter plantings inside six fountains across the
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          2  City.  When the weather turns mild again, we donate

          3  the plants to community groups who transplant them

          4  to their neighborhood parks.

          5                 Planting flowers and gardens helps

          6  improve air quality but the real workhorses in this

          7  area are the trees.  Trees reduce air pollution,

          8  help lower energy costs, and help manage storm

          9  water.  Trees make New York a cleaner and healthier

         10  place in which to live, and they raise property

         11  values.  When you hear the phrase`a tree- lined

         12  street', it connotes value and solidity.

         13                 Last year, we launched`Trees Count',

         14  the second census of street trees in the City's

         15  history, conducted largely by volunteers.  About 65

         16  percent of the City's trees were surveyed, and we

         17  look forward to completing the census this summer.

         18                 As in 1995, the information we

         19  collect will help us to manage the urban forest for

         20  years to come.

         21                 In the FY`07 Preliminary Budget, the

         22  Mayor has allocated $7.5 million for tree planting.

         23  With additional allocations from the City Council

         24  and the Borough Presidents, we hope to plant close

         25  to another 10,000 this year.
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          2                 Only healthy, well maintained trees

          3  can provide important environmental and public

          4  health benefits, that is why caring for these trees

          5  is so important.  Our block- by- block tree pruning

          6  program has allowed us to ensure the health of our

          7  urban forests by pruning each city tree once every

          8  ten years.  We know that for all of you, tree care

          9  requests are your constituents' number one concern,

         10  at least for many of you.  Without a pruning budget,

         11  we will be limited to removing dead trees and

         12  responding to emergencies.

         13                 This April, New York City is

         14  celebrating National Garden Month.  The National

         15  Gardening Association annually coordinates this

         16  event to celebrate and promote gardening, and for

         17  the first time, has chosen New York City as the

         18  highlight of its promotion campaign.  Over the last

         19  week of April there will be events, tours and

         20  lectures focused on gardening and related themes

         21  such as the environment, such as environmental

         22  stewardship, health and wellness, home gardening and

         23  community development.

         24                 Speaking of community development,

         25  that brings us to our final point.  Parks and
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          2  greenspaces, when they are properly built and

          3  maintained, raise property values, encourage tourism

          4  and create business opportunities.  An investment in

          5  parks is an investment in the economic vitality of

          6  our communities.  We invest in communities by

          7  maintaining clean and safe parks, by making capital

          8  improvements, and encouraging others to do the same.

          9                 I am happy to say that our parks have

         10  never been in better shape, and the ratings prove

         11  that.  The ground- breaking Park Inspection Program

         12  is a rigorous performance- based measurement system

         13  that holds field staff to the high maintenance

         14  standards.               This fiscal year the

         15  ratings are the highest they have been in years.

         16  Overall condition is 88 percent, that is the

         17  condition of the physical attributes of a park or

         18  playground, and cleanliness is 94 percent for Fiscal

         19  Year 2006 to date.  And, there are two charts up

         20  there that show the overall conditions and

         21  cleanliness ratings.

         22                 Through over 5,000 annual, formal

         23  inspections and tens of thousands of informal

         24  inspections conducted by park managers, supervisors

         25  and crew chiefs, using the same criteria, we know
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          2  how well our playgrounds perform when measured

          3  against objective criteria in up to 16 different

          4  categories.  The ratings are an important tool to

          5  help park managers deploy field staff, and to

          6  allocate resources most efficiently.

          7                 Our field staff, especially seasonal

          8  employees, is essential to maintaining these

          9  outstanding ratings in ensuring that we all enjoy

         10  clean parks and playgrounds.

         11                 The FY`07 budget does not contain

         12  funding for certain seasonal staff.  It is important

         13  that the funding be restored.  If it is not, we will

         14  rely on our full- time staff and Job Training

         15  Participants to minimize the impact on our core

         16  services, which is to provide clean and safe parks.

         17                 Job Training Participants, who are

         18  part of the City's transitional employment program,

         19  are crucial to the maintenance of parks during the

         20  busy season.  Currently, we have 2,500 Job Training

         21  Participants.  This year's Preliminary Budget

         22  contains $43 million for this important program.  At

         23  the peak of the summer season, we expect to have

         24  4,000 Participants cleaning parks, playgrounds,

         25  beaches and pools, maintaining and securing and
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          2  programming all of our many facilities.

          3                 They will also be developing skills

          4  that help us place them in full- time jobs.  In

          5  fact, we have placed almost 6,000 people in jobs

          6  through this program.

          7                 Speaking of beaches and pools, you

          8  may have noticed a lifeguard chair right here

          9  outside of City Hall.  No, we are not thinking of

         10  putting a pool in City Hall Park, but we do hope we

         11  got New Yorkers thinking about working as a

         12  lifeguard.  Watching over the City's 14 miles of

         13  beach and 51 outdoor pools is a great summer job.  I

         14  hope that you all encourage everyone you know to

         15  come to West 59th Street Recreation Center, and take

         16  the qualifying test, which is offered Monday through

         17  Friday at 4:30 and 6:30.  There is no appointment

         18  necessary, just bring a bathing suit and a towel.

         19                 We are optimistic that our aggressive

         20  campaign to recruit lifeguards will pay off.  Here

         21  is the full- page ad that appeared- was given out to

         22  people who get the Metro Newspaper as they go into

         23  the subways in the morning.

         24                 We hope to see you all on Memorial

         25  Day as we kick off the beach season, and on June
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          2  29th when we open the pools.  A number of the City's

          3  pools are celebrating a big birthday this summer.

          4  Any idea what that birthday is?  What is the

          5  birthday for the pools this summer?  Do not worry, I

          6  am not expecting you to know that kind of Parks

          7  trivia.  It is the 70th anniversary of the pools

          8  built at the WPA, 70 years ago this summer.

          9                 In 1936, Robert Moses an avid

         10  swimmer, opened 11 new pools throughout the City

         11  during that summer, which is also one of the hottest

         12  summers on record.  With one exception, these pools

         13  continue to serve hundreds of thousands of New

         14  Yorkers, and they are enduring symbols of a great

         15  period of high quality of public works.  We hope to

         16  recreate some of the magic of that summer of pools,

         17  when we celebrate the pool opening in June.

         18                 Many believe that the WPA era

         19  represented the second great area of park

         20  development in New York City.  The first being that

         21  of Frederick Law Olmstead and Calvert Vox (phonetic)

         22  in the late 1800's.  Thanks to Mayor Bloomberg's

         23  commitment to Parks, and the partnership of the City

         24  Council and the Borough Presidents, we are in the

         25  midst of a third great era of park construction.
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          2  And as you can see from the map, we have spent over

          3  $1 billion on park projects across the City over the

          4  last decade.  And our new capital budget sets aside

          5  almost $1 billion, $900 million, for development and

          6  improvement of parks over the next four years, and

          7  there is a map showing spending by borough over the

          8  last 11 years.

          9                 We are embarking on large ambitious

         10  projects all over the City.  We are spending $6.4

         11  million, for example, to convert a former concrete

         12  plant into a park along the Bronx River in the South

         13  Bronx.

         14                 We are meeting the recreational needs

         15  of our newest New Yorkers with a growing roster of

         16  international sports, including cricket, netball,

         17  soccer, and dodgeball, which country does dodgeball

         18  come from?  Okay, we will think about that one,

         19  probably New York.  Somebody just said New York is a

         20  country unto itself-  and creating facilities to

         21  accommodate these sports.

         22                 We are working with world- renowned

         23  architects to build a 100,000 square- foot ice

         24  skating rink and indoor swimming pool in the

         25  Flushing Meadows Corona Park.  It is the first new
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          2  pool in Queens in many decades.

          3                 We are converting a former landfill

          4  on Staten Island into an unprecedented, 2,200- acre

          5  park and sports complex, and we are introducing 55

          6  new ballfields, or overhauling existing ones over

          7  the next two years, including 13 in Harlem and Upper

          8  Manhattan.

          9                 Now, in addition to many of the large

         10  scale projects just mentioned, we also continue to

         11  use other capital programs, known as requirements

         12  contracts on smaller projects.  This program allows

         13  us to transform a site with a relatively small

         14  amount of money, and within a short amount of time.

         15  But, it still has a huge impact on the quality of

         16  life for neighborhood parks and playgrounds.

         17  Historically, requirements funds have been spent on

         18  updating parks and playgrounds and specialized

         19  projects such as roofs, pools, pool infrastructure,

         20  buildings and boiler projects. This program also

         21  gives the Parks Department the discretion to

         22  allocate resources to the parks and programs that

         23  most need them. And you can see the map on your

         24  right, on my left, that shows requirements projects

         25  spending by borough.  The larger the blue dot, the
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          2  more spent.

          3                 In FY `07, Mayor Bloomberg has

          4  allocated $25 million for the Requirements Program,

          5  which will enable us to modernize parks and

          6  playgrounds, and improve facilities in every

          7  neighborhood.

          8                 The expense budget provides the

          9  resources to operate and maintain our facilities,

         10  but the City's greenspaces does not thrive solely

         11  through capital investment and maintenance.  An

         12  important component of the maintenance of the city's

         13  parks is active and committed partners who

         14  consistently care for and support greenspace.  These

         15  partners range from large, privately funded

         16  organizations, to local community groups that makes

         17  sure the park is locked every night.  Both are

         18  equally and vitally important because they actively

         19  support parks, and encourage others to invest in

         20  public spaces.

         21                 We are translating the success of

         22  some of these larger "friends of" groups to smaller

         23  neighborhood parks across the City.  One

         24  public/private partnership, the Neighborhood Park

         25  Initiative, had a successful first year.  Thanks to
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          2  New Yorkers for Parks this program improved the

          3  maintenance and programming at 30 parks across the

          4  City.  Private funds helped pay for a full- time

          5  gardener, trained by the Central Park Conservancy,

          6  another partner in this program, and a four- month

          7  Playground Associate was placed at each site.

          8                 On the capital side, there were

          9  millions of dollars allocated by the Council for

         10  water service and landscape improvements to these

         11  parks.

         12                 Finally, the City Parks Foundation,

         13  working through the Partnerships for Parks program

         14  has been working to create local "friends of" groups

         15  for the 30 parks that are part of this initiative,

         16  and we hope that will continue.

         17                 So, with winter we hope coming to a

         18  close, with record high temperatures and record

         19  snowfall, we are ready for people to come out to the

         20  parks again.  In fact, tomorrow is St. Patrick's

         21  Day.  I will be marching with the Parks' contingent,

         22  and I hope to see you there.  I will be looking for

         23  the City Council contingent which probably kicks off

         24  a little bit earlier than we do.

         25                 It is really the official start of
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          2  the outdoor event season, and we are looking forward

          3  to helping all New Yorkers enjoy another season of

          4  flowers and fun, pools and playgrounds, exercise and

          5  entertainment.

          6                 I thank you for indulging this

          7  presentation, and I would be happy to answer

          8  questions at this time.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you,

         10  Commissioner.

         11                 We have been joined by Council Member

         12  Joe Addabbo from Queens, and Miguel Martinez from

         13  Manhattan.

         14                 I guess this is where we do the dance

         15  because as I look at my questions it seems like

         16  every year it is the same questions, and so, I

         17  guess, let the dance begin.

         18                 Last year the Council allocated $2

         19  million to hire an additional 50 PEP officers.

         20  These officers helped control our city parks,

         21  providing a sense of safety and order, yet the

         22  proposed Fiscal 2007 Preliminary Budget failed to

         23  baseline funding for these 50 additional officers

         24  hired and trained by the Department.  When you

         25  proposed your budget to Administration, did you
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          2  include funding for the additional PEP officers that

          3  were hired for this fiscal year?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, we

          5  certainly hope to have the PEP officers there next

          6  year.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, let me-

          8  thank you for that answer but that was not the

          9  answer to the question.

         10                 When you proposed your budget to the

         11  Administration or OMB, did you included funding for

         12  these additional officers?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, we always

         14  propose as much as we can get, or more than we could

         15  possibly expect, and then we see what happens.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, you know

         17  what would be very helpful with this dance, is if we

         18  at least got the steps right.  Meaning, I asked what

         19  I think are very specific questions, and maybe you

         20  can give me more specific answers, so one more time.

         21                 When you proposed your budget to

         22  Administration or OMB, did you include funding for

         23  the additional PEP officers that were hired for this

         24  Fiscal Year?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, we always
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          2  propose the programs we hope to have, and we did

          3  this time, and each year there is this budget

          4  negotiation, and we always hope for the best

          5  outcome, and so far, it has been pretty good.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What is your

          7  contingency plan, or what do you expect to happen

          8  with these 50 new officers if come July 1st there is

          9  no funding?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, we

         11  certainly hope to see them funded.  I mean, the

         12  contingency plan is to work with the police

         13  department, and make sure that the parks remain

         14  safe.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  How many PEP

         16  officers do we currently have in the Parks

         17  Department, excluding the 50 new hires, and

         18  excluding the Battery Park arrangement?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Eighty- three

         20  that are funded by the City.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And of that 83,

         22  do you have a breakdown by borough?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  We can get back

         24  to you with that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Could you,
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          2  please?

          3                 In the Fiscal 2006 Adopted Budget,

          4  $7.3 million was restored by the City Council for

          5  seasonal workers.  This restoration, like the PEP,

          6  and the Tree Pruning Restoration has not been

          7  baselined by the Mayor in Fiscal 2007 Preliminary

          8  Plan.

          9                 Could you please explain to the

         10  Committee what impact this cut would have on the

         11  condition of the city parks?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It is always

         13  impossible to predict but even if we had the cuts to

         14  the seasonal budget, we are confident we would be

         15  able to maintain our core services, providing clean

         16  and safe parks and playgrounds.  We are lucky to

         17  have a fully funded Job Training Participant

         18  Program, which is key to fulfilling the mission.

         19  There would be no impact on the lifeguards or the

         20  filter plant operators who impact the pools.  So, we

         21  would open the beaches and open the pools.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What is a

         23  current number of seasonal staff at the Department

         24  now?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  There are
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          2  approximately 1,400 year- round seasonal, 300 six-

          3  month seasonals, and we have got 2,500 Job Training

          4  Participants, currently.  It goes up to about 4,000

          5  in the summer.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And how many of

          7  those positions would be eliminated if the funding

          8  was not restored?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It is

         10  approximately 1,200 who come on for the summer.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So, 1,200 of the

         12  potential 4,000 you are saying in total?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  No, the 1,200

         14  are not currently on the payroll.  They come on in

         15  the summertime.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So, if the

         17  funding was not restored, then the 1,200 would not

         18  come on in the summer?

         19                 COMMISSIONER FOSTER:  That is

         20  correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  You mentioned in

         22  your testimony about the six centers that are now

         23  going to be charged membership fees.

         24                 Can you give me a little background

         25  as to why they were not initially charged membership
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          2  fees, and why they are going to be charged

          3  membership fees now?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  In fact, all

          5  the centers originally had membership fees.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, okay.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  And then, some

          8  years ago before I was commissioner, I am not sure

          9  why, they eliminated the fees of the CD funded

         10  centers.  I think there was a belief that they could

         11  not have fees, which proved to be not true.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I am sorry, say

         13  that again.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  They eliminated

         15  the fees at the CD funded centers.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I do not

         18  remember how many years ago.  And then, but they

         19  kept fees which were subsequently increased at the

         20  non- CD funded centers, and then, looking at budget

         21  issues we realized that there was really no

         22  difference between a CD and non- CD funded centers,

         23  in terms of the demographics in many cases, and it

         24  seemed like an artificial distinction.  Also, the

         25  people who had the CD funded memberships were not
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          2  eligible to go to the other centers.

          3                 So, we thought let us just have one

          4  system where everybody pays the same very reasonable

          5  fee, and they would be able to use all the centers.

          6  Some centers, in fact, are in CD eligible

          7  neighborhoods but do not get the funding.  So, it

          8  has been an artificial distinction, and we thought

          9  let us just have one system that works for all the

         10  centers.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Has the Parks

         12  Department gotten any feedback on whether in these

         13  six centers, or any centers, people have been unable

         14  to pay?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  No, you have not

         17  gotten any feedback?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I have not

         19  gotten any feedback.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  As part of the

         21  Fiscal 2007 January Plan, the Department anticipates

         22  additional revenue of $750,000 in Fiscal 2006, and

         23  $250,000 in Fiscal 2007.  The out years from tree

         24  restitution payments made by contractors who damaged

         25  city trees.
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          2                 How does the Department determine how

          3  much contractors who damage city trees are charged?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It is based on

          5  the value of the tree for a tree that is destroyed,

          6  or the lost value, that is the damage- if the tree

          7  is damaged.  The value formula is derived from a

          8  method used by the International Society of Arbor

          9  Culture, which has something they call a guide to

         10  plant appraisal.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And is damage-

         12  tree damage- is there a high incidence of tree

         13  damage?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, it depend

         15  on how you define high.  There is something in the

         16  neighborhood of 600,000 street trees on the streets

         17  of the City of New York.

         18                 Last year, I think we issued 266

         19  summonses for damage where we either caught the

         20  person in the act, or it was reported by a neighbor

         21  when a moving company or, often, somebody putting up

         22  construction scaffolding will inadvertently damage a

         23  tree.

         24                 So, it is a rather small percentage

         25  of the overall tree population.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So, say that

          3  again.  It is a small percentage?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, if you say

          5  we caught- we issued 266 summonses, I think last

          6  year, there is 600,000 street trees, give or take,

          7  unfortunately, we do not catch all the people in the

          8  act of doing damage, but we are probably averaging

          9  somewhere in the neighborhood of $100,000 a year in

         10  restitution fees.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Has the

         12  Department thought of maybe, the money that you

         13  specifically get from the restitution for damages to

         14  trees going towards tree pruning contracts?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, it is- in

         16  some ways we do.  The money goes to the general

         17  fund, but we get capital money in exchange from OMB

         18  to go toward tree planting.  So, we do get the money

         19  back to replace the trees that were destroyed or

         20  damaged.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  In your

         22  testimony, you mentioned that $5.25 million was

         23  reduced in this Preliminary Budget for the Parks-

         24  run Afterschool Program.

         25                 What is the source of that funding,
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          2  and why is it being reduced?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  That was

          4  surplus funding that HRA had been giving us for a

          5  few years, surplus TANF funds, and they were not

          6  able to use it, so we- they sort of transferred

          7  it- interagency transferred it to us.  But, they no

          8  longer have that funding.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I am going to

         10  ask one more question.

         11                 This is a little frustrating to me

         12  because, again, we do this every year.  We talk

         13  about tree pruning, and we say how important it is,

         14  and you say it is important too.  And, we talk about

         15  PEP and on and on.

         16                 So, I just- I am not good at- I have

         17  not managed the art of doing things over and over

         18  because that is clearly what the Charter calls for

         19  us to do, but if it is not a bright idea, it is just

         20  not a bright idea.

         21                 That having been said, I know I have

         22  colleagues who have lots of questions, and we have

         23  been joined by Council Member Diana Reyna.

         24                 My last question has to do- last year

         25  we had a hearing, and I do not remember if Josh

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  testified or if Liam testified about playground

          3  safety and the sprinkler mats, and the cases that we

          4  had been seeing with children burning the bottom of

          5  their feet.

          6                 What are we doing as we approach

          7  these summer months to deal with the black- top

          8  rubberized mat and the potential for young people

          9  burning their feet?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  This is a

         11  relatively new phenomenon because we have now got

         12  safety surface, virtually in every playground, and

         13  we have only recently learned that it starts to heat

         14  up.

         15                 Two things, when we are trying to

         16  avoid using black in our new designs, and the other

         17  is to put up signage cautioning parents to keep

         18  their children in shoes.  I think running around in

         19  playgrounds, it is probably better to have sim shoes

         20  or flip- flops or something on.  Same way as if you

         21  went to the beach and the sand gets really hot, if

         22  it is really hot, just keep your kids in shoes kind

         23  of thing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So, will we have

         25  those signs up by the hot months, if they are not up
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          2  already?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And how many,

          5  and I do not know if you know this right now, how

          6  many mats will, in fact, be replaced so that they

          7  are not black?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, we do it

          9  as we get capital funding, as we bring in new safety

         10  service either through specific new allocations, or

         11  through the requirements contract.

         12                 The average life of the safety

         13  surface is between ten and twenty years, depending

         14  on the brands, so there is a good chance that we

         15  will be able to replace it as time goes by.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BENEPE:  Thank you.

         17                 Council Member Gallagher.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair.

         20                 Madam Chair, let me start by thanking

         21  you for your comments concerning this budget dance.

         22                 As a member of the City Council

         23  Finance Committee that has had an opportunity to sit

         24  in on so many hearing so far with Commissioner's who

         25  come in, and Commissioner's who tell you that things
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          2  are a priority only if they Council wants to put the

          3  funding in, and I think it is wrong.

          4                 I think the Commissioner's have a

          5  responsibility to their agency and to the people of

          6  the City of New York to go forward, and to go to the

          7  Mayor's Office, and to go to OMB, and let them know

          8  that this funding is necessary for the operation of

          9  their department.

         10                 When we look at the $2 million for

         11  the PEP officers, and the fact that there is only 83

         12  citywide, many of them are on fixed posts, and I

         13  think there is less than 15 that were in Queens, at

         14  least that is the number the Commissioner gave me

         15  the other day, and some of them are on fixed posts,

         16  it is unbelievable that our Parks Commissioner and

         17  the staff do not fight to try to make sure that that

         18  money is baselined, that funding should be

         19  baselined, it should be done immediately, and you

         20  should not rely on the Council to always have to

         21  come in and do that.  God willing, we will be able

         22  to because it is essential but if there comes a time

         23  when it is not, we are putting at jeopardy people in

         24  the City of New York.

         25                 Commissioner, I would like to talk to
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          2  you about a capital item.

          3                 As you know, Keyspan Park, not the

          4  one in Brooklyn obviously, the one in Queens, the

          5  former Elmhurst Gas Tank site was purchased for a

          6  dollar, and many folks have had some meetings where

          7  the public have come in and they have testified

          8  about what they would like to see there.  Well, we

          9  had a meeting out in Queens that was very well

         10  attended, and there seems to be an overwhelming

         11  consensus that instead of a kinetic sculpture park,

         12  and forgive me, I do not know what that means, but

         13  that we would like to see a Vietnam Veterans'

         14  Memorial or statue in that location.

         15                 Now, the Parks Department to their

         16  credit did not say`no' immediately, the Parks

         17  Department told the Vietnam Veterans' Chapter 32 and

         18  their president, Pat Torro,`Well, that might be a

         19  good idea, that is something that we will consider,

         20  here is what you have to do.  You have to go out,

         21  and raise money, and get a design, you have to be

         22  able to build the sculpture within the park, and

         23  then you are going to have to pay for long- term

         24  maintenance.'

         25                 Is that Parks Department policy?  Is
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          2  it a law?  Or is this your policy, Commissioner?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  This is the

          4  long- standing policy of the City.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Is it?

          6  Because I was looking at some of the questions over

          7  here for a Flight 587 memorial, which $7.5 million

          8  is committed into the capital budget for a memorial

          9  paid for by taxpayers expense.

         10                 So, why can we pay for a Flight 587

         11  memorial, which I am not arguing with, I think it is

         12  worthy, and not pay for a Veterans' Memorial for

         13  those who put their lives on the line to protect the

         14  freedoms that we enjoy?

         15                 One thing I concern myself is, I

         16  remember the debate when this Council has to pass a

         17  law over the objections of the Parks' Commissioner

         18  with regards to the placement of P.O.W. and M.I.A.

         19  Flags throughout this City of New York, there were

         20  objections from the Parks Department, and we as the

         21  Council, had to pass a law to pay that tribute to

         22  those who are prisoners of war and missing in

         23  action.

         24                 So, why is it that we can pay for the

         25  587 memorial, and we cannot do something for the
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          2  Vietnam Veterans?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, we have

          4  done something for the Vietnam Veterans.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  In this

          6  particular location, why is it that they are being

          7  told by Parks Department officials that they have to

          8  go out and raise money, that they have to come up

          9  with their own design plan, yet, we will pay for a

         10  kinetic sculpture park, we will pay for other

         11  monuments and memorials, why is it?

         12                 Why are Vietnam Veterans singled out?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  No, there is a

         14  very nice Vietnam Veterans' Memorial right down

         15  here.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Great, and

         17  what about in Queens County?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  There may be

         19  some there too.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  So, are

         21  you telling me then, do the Vietnam Veterans have to

         22  raise the money if the community and everybody wants

         23  to see the Vietnam Veterans' site there?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  That is how it

         25  has traditionally been done in the City.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Then why

          3  is 587 memorial different from the Vietnam Veterans'

          4  Memorial?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  You know, it is

          6  not my place to make judgements about this.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Is this

          8  law, is it policy?  How is it determined?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Policy.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Policy.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Is this

         13  your policy?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  No.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Is there

         16  something written?

         17                 Is there a written policy on this?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  There is a

         19  written policy, yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  May I have

         21  a copy of that written policy?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, yes you

         23  can.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Now I hope

         25  by the way, that I can get the written policy a lot
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          2  quicker than when we foiled information through one

          3  of the civic associations.  We foiled it back in

          4  December, and here it is in March, and we still do

          5  not have those answers.

          6                 Commissioner, one other question, and

          7  it is about the dog runs.

          8                 As you know, on your website as a

          9  matter of fact, it says that unleashed dogs pose a

         10  potential danger to people, and to other dogs.  Many

         11  park users, horses, wildlife, unleased dogs are

         12  bitten by unleashed dogs.  Many park visitors are

         13  frightened by dogs, and they find unleashed dogs to

         14  be intimidating or annoying. Unleashed dogs are more

         15  likely to leave behind waste that is not picked up

         16  that can cause disease.  Unleashed dogs destroy

         17  lawns, flower beds, so on and so forth, that is on

         18  your website.

         19                 The law clearly states, New York City

         20  Health Code 161- 05, that unleashed dogs possess

         21  this threat, and you are not allowed to have an

         22  unleashed dog in a public place.

         23                 Why is it that the Parks Department

         24  in the 1,600 or so parks in the City of New York

         25  allow- have a policy to allow dogs to run off leash,
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          2  contrary to the Health Department law before 9 a.m.,

          3  and after 9 p.m.?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  This is a

          5  policy that has been in place for over 20 years.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And now we

          7  have brought it to your attention over the last two

          8  years, and that it is contrary to New York City

          9  Heath Code Law.

         10                 So, I want to know at what point are

         11  you going to start enforcing this law citywide?

         12                 Let me explain to you, Commissioner,

         13  there was somebody oddly enough, I talked to a

         14  colleague here today, two colleagues, who had talked

         15  about this issue, and the fact that I was going to

         16  bring this issue.  One of them is a coach at St.

         17  Anastasia, and they came into Juniper Valley Park,

         18  and they were playing a ballgame at 8 a.m. In the

         19  morning, so your permit office issued the permit for

         20  an 8 a.m. Game.  They went out, viscous dogs ran

         21  around and attacked some of the kids.  They had to

         22  stop the ballgame with the kids because of unleashed

         23  dogs in the park.

         24                 We have sent this to you previously,

         25  the article here,`unleashed dogs a menace in
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          2  Juniper.'  If you want to see the injuries to some

          3  constituents of mine who were bitten by unleashed

          4  dogs.  In Juniper Valley Park, you are walking

          5  across the park from one section to get to the

          6  public school, it does not make sense.

          7                 One, I think that the Parks

          8  Department should not have the ability, and neither

          9  should you, Commissioner, to decide that you want to

         10  unilaterally just decide to not enforce a law.  I

         11  think that you should enforce this law, and I think

         12  you should do it immediately in all of the parks in

         13  the City of New York.  Or Commissioner, amend the

         14  New York City Health Code Law, and allow unleashed

         15  dogs in the City of New York.

         16                 Do you have a comment on that

         17  Commissioner?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Did you have a

         19  question, council member?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Well, I do

         21  have a question.

         22                 How many summonses have you issued,

         23  through the Parks Department, for unleashed dogs

         24  between the hours of 9 a.m. and 9 p.m., in the City

         25  of New York?

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I would say, I

          3  would have to get back to you but probably in the

          4  neighborhood- thousands.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And how

          6  many of them in Queens County?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Hundreds, if

          8  not, thousands.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Hundreds

         10  upon thousands.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I said,

         12  hundreds, if not, thousands.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BENEPE:  Oh, hundreds

         14  of thousands.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Hundreds, no, I

         16  said, hundreds, if not, thousands.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Hundreds

         18  or thousands, I understood what you said.  Now, so

         19  with the about six or eight PEP officers that you

         20  have, is that all they do, is run around from park

         21  to park in Queens County and issue these thousands

         22  of summonses?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  That is one of

         24  the things that they do.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Or do they
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          2  have any other official duties that they have to do?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, they do

          4  all kinds of official business.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:   You see,

          6  the point is Commissioner, I doubt that there are

          7  thousands of summonses that are issued.  I think

          8  that there is a potential to issue more summonses.

          9                 If you take a look at the $2 million

         10  that we are looking at for PEP officers, if you

         11  decided to summons those who are in violation of the

         12  law, and use your PEP officers, that they probably

         13  almost pay for themselves.

         14                 So Commissioner, I am just going to

         15  close with the comment because we have gone through

         16  this privately, and I just wanted to make sure that

         17  this is public.

         18                 You know, you are doing a disservice

         19  to the people of the City of New York who have been

         20  intimidated and viscously attacked by dogs that are

         21  unleashed in the parks.

         22                 I am a dog owner.  I walk my dog on a

         23  leash.  I love walking in the parks, and I love

         24  enjoying it.  I hate when a Pit Bull or a

         25  Rottweiler, who may be friendly or may not be
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          2  friendly, runs up to my little Shih Tzu in the park

          3  because I am afraid that my dog would become a meal,

          4  and I think that you have a responsibility to

          5  enforce the law for the citizens of this City of New

          6  York, and you should not do it.

          7                 Actually Commissioner, I lied, there

          8  is one other question that I wanted to ask you about

          9  capital budget.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I would like to

         11  address the dog issue.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Please, go

         13  ahead, then I will ask you a question on the capital

         14  budget.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  In this year,

         16  we will probably issued about 14,000 ECB Summonses,

         17  the majority of those will be for dogs`off leash.'

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And in

         19  Queens?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I will get you

         21  the number there.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And if you

         23  can, by the way, if you could break them down within

         24  the parks within my Councilmatic district, that

         25  would be helpful.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Sure, we can do

          3  that, and you know if dogs are not supposed to be in

          4  ballfields, we will be happy to come down there and

          5  if we see dogs running around on ballfields--.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  That is

          7  absolutely untrue because we have been asking you to

          8  enforce dogs on ballfields for the last two years,

          9  actually since 2002, and just for the record in case

         10  you did not get all the correspondence, I think

         11  there was eight different letters from the community

         12  board, the local community board voted unanimously,

         13  unanimously, not to have a dog run, and to encourage

         14  the Parks Department to enforce the existing laws.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Dennis, excuse

         16  me, let me just interrupt you for a minute.

         17                 The class that is visiting, I am

         18  sorry we did not get your name to welcome you, but

         19  welcome to the Chambers.  This is your City Hall,

         20  and we are always to see kids here.

         21                 Where are you from?

         22                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Jamaica,

         23  Queens.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Jamaica, Queens,

         25  well, welcome.
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          2                 Thank you council member.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Taking care of

          4  public parks in our City is, usually, a balancing

          5  act.  There is over eight million people in this

          6  City.  New Yorkers are known for their strong

          7  opinions, and particularly in the parks, you know,

          8  if you talk about building a sewage treatment plant,

          9  or building a bridge, or running a hospital, or all

         10  of the other things that other city agencies are

         11  invested in, it is difficult to have an opinion as

         12  to whether you should build a bridge this or that

         13  way, or whether you should have a traffic light here

         14  or there.  You know, traffic engineers do that.

         15                 With parks, it is very easy and

         16  important for people to have opinions, and

         17  everyone's opinion is probably, more or less, valid.

         18    Should you plant daisies or petunias?  It does not

         19  much matter.  Should you have a bench here or there?

         20    Beauty is in the eye of the beholder.

         21                 Among the most loyal users of parks

         22  are dog walkers. Dog walker tend to go to parks, at

         23  least, twice a day, sometimes more than that.  It is

         24  for that reason that we have constructed over 60 dog

         25  runs across the City to allow dogs to run off the
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          2  leash without allowing them to run off the leash

          3  outside of the dog runs. There are more than a

          4  million dog owners in the City, and they vote, and

          5  they certainly let their opinions be known.

          6                 So, it is a fine line that we walk.

          7  In fact, the reason probably the policy was

          8  developed twenty years ago, of not actively

          9  enforcing the nighttime hours was simply because

         10  there was no ability to do so.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Or the

         12  morning hours?           There is no ability to do

         13  so because when the Parks Department goes in to talk

         14  to OMB, and when the Parks Department goes in to

         15  talk to the Mayor's Office about getting more PEP

         16  officers so we can do this type of enforcement, they

         17  decide to just let the council try to be the ones

         18  who fund it.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  No, it started

         20  about 20 years ago, and that is also the truth, no

         21  need to say that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And let me

         23  just also say something about the idea of a dog run.

         24

         25                 There are many people in my community
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          2  that want a dog run.  The people support it in a

          3  certain location, the Parks Department has choose

          4  not to pursue that location.  Your Deputy

          5  Commissioner, Liam Cavanaugh, went out to my

          6  district to look at this problem, and when I asked

          7  him if he knew where this other location was, he

          8  looked at me like a deer in headlights because he

          9  had never heard it before, and that shows there is a

         10  lack of communication in the Parks Department.

         11                 Going on to something a little bit

         12  other than dog runs on this.  I want to talk to you

         13  about the process in which, for capital projects,

         14  the Parks Department determines the dollar amount

         15  that is necessary for a project.

         16                 Can you explain that process to me?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I would like to

         18  invite Amy Frietag, our Deputy Commissioner of

         19  Capital Projects.  It is a long and involved process

         20  that, generally speaking, involves the elected

         21  officials who allocate the money but we would be

         22  happy to take you through it step by step.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  If you

         24  could just summarize.

         25                 MS. FRIETAG:  Good morning.
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          2                 As you know, we start off our wish

          3  list season in the fall.  We work with the council

          4  people, meet hopefully, individually with all of you

          5  to come up with ideas.

          6                 We also volunteer some suggestions

          7  and ideas of projects that would be great in your

          8  district.

          9                 We than go through a process of

         10  estimating those through different means, whether it

         11  is--.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  The process

         13  often begins with the district budget consultations,

         14  as you know council member.

         15                 We go out to all the community

         16  boards, we sit down with every community board, and

         17  go through the community board's priorities, and the

         18  community board speaks to us about their priorities.

         19    Often, they are informed by civic associations,

         20  neighborhood groups, sports leagues, schools,

         21  principals, parents associations, and all of those

         22  different priorities are assembled by the Parks

         23  Department, and then we seek funding.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And then

         25  you determine the dollar amount as to the
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          2  renovation?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, we come

          4  up with an estimate for the dollar amount, or

          5  sometimes a council member will put in a dollar

          6  amount and say,`this is what I am putting toward

          7  that project.'  It may have some relation to the

          8  alternate cost of the project or it may not.  It may

          9  be just what that council member feels like

         10  allocating or has the ability to allocate.

         11                 It may be more than enough, it may be

         12  slightly less than enough, or it may be just a small

         13  fraction of the ultimate cost of the project.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Well, I

         15  just want to state for the record, and maybe some of

         16  my colleagues could understand, that of the last

         17  couple of capital projects that I have had, Grover

         18  Cleveland Playground went over budget.  Juniper

         19  Ballfields went over budget.  The ballfield at

         20  Victory Field went over budget.  The center median

         21  on Union Turnpike went over budget. The upper

         22  playground in Juniper Park went over budget.

         23  Buffera Fencing (phonetic) needs additional money,

         24  and probably the most unbelievable thing is, is last

         25  year I had indicated to the Parks Department, I
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          2  would put $1.2 million into Moore East to put

          3  synthetic fields, and they said you will need about

          4  $2 million to $2.5, said I will have to fund it over

          5  two years, I do not have the resources to be able to

          6  do that.  I called just to see if the cost estimates

          7  were changed, and the Parks Department told me now

          8  that they need $5.9 million.

          9                 So, I think that the system is

         10  somewhat flawed, and I think you have to come up

         11  with a system operation where if you have a project,

         12  and a council member has put a certain amount of

         13  money in, you do not believe it is enough money,

         14  tell them in advance.  Let them make some

         15  arrangements in advance so that we do not have to

         16  delay projects, and so that we do not have to try

         17  come up with funding, or we do not have to see items

         18  cut from the project.

         19                 In particular, like they were going

         20  to take fencing out of a project in Juniper Valley

         21  Park because of the low estimate that is needed.  We

         22  would much rather let it be known to us early, so

         23  that we can find the funding or do something, and do

         24  the job right, and most importantly, timely.

         25                 Thank you, Madam Chair, for your
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          2  indulgence in time.           COMMISSIONER BENEPE:

          3  We could not agree with you more, council member.

          4                 We too are distressed by the high

          5  cost of the construction.  International politics,

          6  construction booms in Asia are all driving

          7  construction costs up.  It has been estimated by

          8  people in the private sector that construction costs

          9  are going up one percent a month on all construction

         10  across the city.  Everybody knows that construction

         11  is expensive in New York City.  There are things

         12  like the Wicks Law, and we will look forward since

         13  you are sharing a concern about the cost of

         14  construction-  we look forward to the leadership of

         15  the city council in changing the Wicks Law, and

         16  bringing the cost of capital construction in for

         17  public projects down to something that is more

         18  reasonable.  Whatever you can do to lower the price

         19  of steel, and the price of the commodities that we

         20  need to do that, we welcome that.  To work with the

         21  comptroller to lower, perhaps do something more

         22  sensible on the prevailing wages, all of these

         23  things drive costs up.

         24                 Thank you very much for your concern.

         25    We share your concern.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I just

          3  want to indicate on this, you know, it is not steel,

          4  this is redoing ballfields and $2.9 million to $5.5

          5  million, I understand that costs go up, but I am not

          6  sure that costs have gone up that much in one year,

          7  and I think that one of our biggest problems is, and

          8  this is a topic for another day, and I encourage the

          9  Committee Chair if she is so willing, to set up a

         10  meeting to talk about the soft costs that the Parks

         11  Department takes out for every project.

         12                 If you are designing a baseball

         13  field, and it is already a baseball field, the Parks

         14  Department still takes their percentage out for

         15  design.  If it is a basketball court, and it going

         16  to be a basketball court, they will still take their

         17  cost on it.  They have hundreds of employees that

         18  are in parks design, and I know we did not get an

         19  answer to our email when we asked for the specific

         20  number of employees, but you are looking at 30

         21  percent coming off the top, if not, more for soft

         22  costs.  That is something that I encourage this

         23  Committee to take a look at, project by project,

         24  district by district, and borough by borough because

         25  that is a way that we could start saving money here
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          2  in the City of New York.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, thank

          4  you, that 30 percent should really be broken down.

          5                 Ten percent is for design, and

          6  construction require designs.  You cannot simply

          7  call up a contractor and say,`hey, I would like you

          8  to build a new ballfield.'  You have to give them

          9  working drawings, and the designs have to be

         10  approved, and you have to have irrigation, and you

         11  have to have water supply, you have to have

         12  foundations for fences.

         13                 Ten percent is for construction

         14  management.  You cannot just simply send a

         15  contractor out and say,`go ahead and do the job.'

         16                 And ten percent is for contingency.

         17  That is standard in the industry, and in fact, it is

         18  lower than at other city agencies, so we would be

         19  happy to discuss it with you.

         20                 We share your concerns, everybody

         21  wants to have cheaper contracts.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I mean,

         23  just for example the Elmhurst Gas Tank site, for

         24  example, I think there are $19 million total

         25  funding, $17 million total funding.  You are going
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          2  to take 30 percent out, 30 percent out of your cost

          3  if you follow your pattern.  Ten percent for a

          4  design process for a project that is $17 million for

          5  6.2 acres, and when I saw the design, while it is

          6  nice, I do not think it is worthy of the money that

          7  you are putting in.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, we are

         10  grateful that Mayor Bloomberg allocated those $17

         11  million for the park in your district, and we will

         12  make sure it is a beautiful park.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, thanks.

         14                 Before we go on, let me welcome- we

         15  are joined by former Council Member and current

         16  Deputy Borough President for Queens, Karen

         17  Koslowitz.

         18                 Thank you for coming back to your old

         19  stomping grounds, and I would like to welcome, we

         20  have another class.

         21                 Where are you guys from?

         22                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  P.S. 82.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  P.S. 82, from?

         24                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Queens.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  This is Queens
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          2  day.  Where in Queens?

          3                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Jamaica.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Jamaica, okay

          5  welcome.

          6                 Next question will be from Councilman

          7  Monserrate from Queens.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank you

          9  very much, and welcome students to the City

         10  Council's hearing.

         11                 Good morning, Mr. Commissioner.

         12                 I just wanted to add my voice to my

         13  colleague Dennis Gallagher's concerns with respect

         14  to the memorial.

         15                 I also chair the Veterans' Committee

         16  here in the City Council.  I am a veteran myself.

         17  Obviously, I know the Vietnam Veterans' Post that he

         18  speaks to, and I think that there is an active group

         19  in this city with respect to veterans' issues.  It

         20  is that post, and that in particular, when a

         21  community begins to organize as a collective and

         22  make a request or a demand, whichever way you want

         23  to term it, as to what they want to see in their

         24  local park, I think that the agencies and government

         25  should be as responsive as possible, and the will
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          2  and the desire of their representation of a

          3  community, and community members for a monument to

          4  be erected in memoriam to those who served in

          5  Vietnam, I think that we should do everything in our

          6  power to ensure that, even if it means that another

          7  sculpture that someone else mind find a little bit

          8  more attractive does not get done.

          9                 So, I just wanted to add my voice to

         10  that, and I am sure at the end of the day you agency

         11  will do the due diligence and work it out so that

         12  everyone involved is satisfied.

         13                 I have a question with respect to the

         14  PEP officers for two reasons.  One is that I

         15  represent the district of Queens that has in its

         16  entirety Flushing Meadows Corona Park, and

         17  unfortunately, two years ago we did have a brutal

         18  rape and an abduction in Flushing Meadow Park, and I

         19  am not going to state that had there been a PEP

         20  officer there present, it would not definitely have

         21  occurred, but it raises the issue of the lack of PEP

         22  officers that there are, specifically in the borough

         23  of Queens, and citywide.  When you testify that

         24  excluding Battery Park, there are 83 PEP officers

         25  that are patrolling, I do not know how many acres
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          2  and acres of city parks, I think that is of great

          3  concern. Particularly in the borough of Queens,

          4  where we have such a large park, I think if I am not

          5  mistaken, Flushing Meadows Park is the largest park

          6  in the City.  I think that the lack of a presence of

          7  PEP officers has a detrimental impact.  In Flushing

          8  Meadow, we have had many discussions with the 110

          9  Precinct, and with the Parks Department regarding

         10  several issues of security and disorderly conduct at

         11  Flushing Meadows Corona Park, and obviously, I

         12  believe that if we had more PEP officers permanently

         13  assigned, that that would go a long way towards

         14  ensuring safety and security.  I think that is what

         15  we all want collectively.

         16                 I am concerned that, and the Chair

         17  was very eloquent in her desires to illicit a

         18  response from you.  I do not think that she received

         19  the satisfactory response.

         20                 With respect to this process, some

         21  members of the council speak to it as a dance but a

         22  process in which, I believe, that your agency and

         23  your leadership, which by the way, has been quite

         24  good.  I want to say that also.  I want to say that

         25  we might have differences on some issues and some
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          2  opinions but you have demonstrated great leadership

          3  for that agency but, I believe, that we need to hear

          4  a strong message from you in particular, as the

          5  Commissioner of the Parks Department that states to

          6  the Administration and to OMB that we should not

          7  consider these PEP officers as the budgetary debate

          8  item for the fiscal year.  These PEP officers should

          9  be baselined into the budget.  We are talking about

         10  a tiny, tiny enforcement numbers or enforcement

         11  officers, and I think that we need a stronger

         12  message from you to be quite frank, that says to the

         13  Administration and to this Body, we need these PEP

         14  officers.  In fact, we need more PEP officers, and

         15  as commissioner of this agency, that is my message

         16  to OMB and I have not heard that today.  I know that

         17  this council is always responsive or reactive to

         18  what does not wind up in the Mayor's Preliminary

         19  Budget, but let me say that as we move forward, I

         20  would assume, and I am assuming that you would agree

         21  with me, that these officers should be baselined,

         22  and that we, in fact, probably need more of them.

         23                 That is my question to you toady.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, thank you

         25  very much for your support for the PEP officers.
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          2  You may not be aware but just as you did, I started

          3  out in a uniform.

          4                 I was a park ranger in 1979 when

          5  Commissioner Davis started the program, under Mayor

          6  Koch, which was the predecessor or before there were

          7  PEP officers, they had park rangers, and then

          8  realized they needed PEP officers.  So, I think it

          9  is safe to say no Parks' commissioner has ever had

         10  more respect for or appreciation of the dedicated

         11  men and women of the Park Enforcement Patrol, and I

         12  want to thank the two officers that are hear today,

         13  and I think they know that.  And Commissioner

         14  Jeffrey, who is our Deputy Commissioner of Public

         15  Programs's whose responsibilities include PEP, is a

         16  former ranger and PEP officer, in fact, he was in

         17  the first mounted unit.  Commissioner Lewendowski

         18  (phonetic) the Borough Commissioner for your borough

         19  was in the same class with Kevin and with me in

         20  1979, also started as a ranger, was also in the

         21  mounted unit, Chief Dockett who is in charge of the

         22  Urban Park Service, includes the PEP and the rangers

         23  and all of our security, also started in the

         24  rangers.

         25                 So, we have a good chunk of the
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          2  hierarchy of this agency began in enforcement-

          3  related positions.  We do have a great appreciation

          4  for it.

          5                 Look, I would love to have a thousand

          6  PEP officers. I think they are terrific, and they

          7  are cost efficient and they raise part of their

          8  salary through writing summonses.  I am afraid,

          9  however, if we had a thousand, people would complain

         10  about a ticket blitz, but that is another story.

         11                 The budget negotiations are what they

         12  are.  I would love to have 30,000 people work for

         13  the Parks Department, but you look around and you

         14  see the agency for children services needs to add

         15  more social workers or inspectors to go around, and

         16  make sure the children on New York stay safe.  We

         17  leave in the age of terror and the police department

         18  has to stay fully staffed, and the Department of

         19  Education needs more money to build new schools and

         20  staff the schools.

         21                 So, while I do press very hard, and

         22  particularly for safety and security, I also

         23  recognize that the creation of the budget involves

         24  factors beyond the Parks Department.  I try to be

         25  pretty centered- focused on the Parks Department but
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          2  we are part of a larger city, and we in fact, the

          3  ultimate safety of the parks depends on the terrific

          4  police department, and the fact is that the crime

          5  has gone down across the city, not just on the

          6  streets and in homes but also in the parks, thanks

          7  to the terrific work of Commissioner Kelly and the

          8  great men and women of the police department whom we

          9  remember.

         10                 So you have my word, I will continue

         11  fighting to make sure that we have a PEP division

         12  and rangers, and make the parks as safe as possible.

         13    I hope that they budget negotiation results in

         14  that continuing.

         15                 But thank you for your support and

         16  for your kind words.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Yes, I

         18  appreciate and I believe that you are being sincere

         19  but I need to now go again back to this very same

         20  issue.

         21                 We know it would be great if we had a

         22  thousand PEP officers, and 30,000 employees taking

         23  care of our parks.  But now I am specifically

         24  dealing with the 50 officers that, through the

         25  initiative of this Council and the leadership of the
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          2  Chair of this Committee, we were able to ensure and

          3  not even there is there a message from your agency,

          4  quite frankly, that states the fact that these 50

          5  officers are an integral part of the safety of our

          6  parks, and they need to be baselined into the

          7  budget.

          8                 There should not be a discussion or a

          9  continually discussion fiscal year, after fiscal

         10  year, after fiscal year that debates between the

         11  Council and the Administration these initiatives

         12  that appear very basic.

         13                 So, I am basically coming back to the

         14  issue of the PEP officers, and that the $2 million

         15  that we have allocated as an initiative of this

         16  Council, I am asking for your support for

         17  specifically that initiative, and as to avoid again,

         18  year after year, perhaps at this point this year, it

         19  might be too late, though I do not think it is, but

         20  so that we can avoid this continual debate on such a

         21  small pool of members of your agency that, really,

         22  are very important to the safety of our parks.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I certainly

         24  support the PEP officers, and I, as our strong hope

         25  that when this budget negotiation is completed and
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          2  we adopt a budget, that they will still be there.

          3  Those 50 and the several hundred others that we

          4  depend on to keep our parks safe and secure.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  So I

          6  guess I am not getting a copy of a letter to you to

          7  OMB and the Mayor saying we need to baseline these

          8  50 officers?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I keep my

         10  conversations unwritten.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  All

         12  right, Mr. Commissioner.  We are going to move on to

         13  the next point that I have, and I will be very brief

         14  but again, very much on the same lines.

         15                 When we talk about seasonal workers,

         16  or the WEP workers, and we are talking about the

         17  pruning program, that every year myself and my

         18  colleagues go through a budget dance speaking to

         19  restorations of what the Mayor's- excuse me, I do

         20  not want to pin it on the Mayor, the Administration

         21  puts forward, again, as the Commissioner of the

         22  Parks Department, you know the work that those

         23  seasonals do, and you know that the work that we do

         24  not do in pruning this year has a very negative

         25  effect for those trees as the years go on.
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          2                 Is there any chance, again, with

          3  respect to those initiatives that your agency would

          4  put a position forward that these programs should be

          5  baselined, and should not be subjected to continual

          6  negotiations and hearings?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Interesting you

          8  should talk about the seasonals.  Before I was a

          9  park ranger in fact, in the summer of 1973, guess

         10  what?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  You were

         12  a seasonal.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I was a

         14  seasonal.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  You were

         16  around the block in the Parks Department.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I was around

         18  the block.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Were you

         20  a lifeguard?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Never, I could

         22  not swim well enough to be a lifeguard.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  One day I would

         25  like to be a lifeguard.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  All

          3  right.  You know they are hiring now, Commissioner.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Really?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  I got a

          6  big poster in my district office.  They are hiring

          7  lifeguards.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Thank you very

          9  much for putting that up.  There should be posters

         10  everywhere you go.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  That is

         12  right.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I was actually

         14  what they call a seasonal park helper in the summer

         15  of 1973.  I started out cleaning toilets and mopping

         16  locker rooms in the dry dock pool on East 10th

         17  Street, between Avenues C and D, and then they

         18  transferred me to East River Parkway, picked up

         19  litter that summer, and I learned a lot.  You can

         20  learn a lot with a bag and stabber in the summer.

         21  It is an interesting place to start to understand

         22  what it really means to keep a park clean.

         23                 So, I fully- I probably have a better

         24  appreciation than most of the people who have held

         25  this position of how valuable or important the
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          2  seasonal staff is to us, and sometimes as a first

          3  summer job, sometimes as people who come back, they

          4  have other jobs, they come back to us for the

          5  summer, and certainly tree pruning and taking care

          6  of the- opening the tennis courts and staffing the

          7  playgrounds, playground associates, and the people

          8  who work in the locker rooms at the pools, as I did

          9  when I started. These are tremendously important to

         10  delivering services.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Yes.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  And we hope

         13  that also with the tree pruning, with the seasonals,

         14  that when all this budget negotiation is completed,

         15  that everything will be in tact, as it has been in

         16  the past.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Madam

         18  Chair, I am not going to ask any more question in

         19  deference to my other colleagues. I would like to

         20  just make a brief statement to the Commissioner on

         21  the record.

         22                 Mr. Commissioner, I just wanted to

         23  also add my voice in support to my colleague, also

         24  from Queens, Council Member Gallagher, with respect

         25  to the policy of unleashed dogs in the park.
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          2                 I have my own experiences as the

          3  representative for the 21st Council District, but

          4  before that in my prior career, when I was on patrol

          5  for the N.Y.P.D., I remember responding to an

          6  assignment in Cunningham Park where an unleashed

          7  Rotweiller had, basically, killed another park goers

          8  poodle by biting its neck and shaking it violently.

          9  Though I do love dogs tremendously, I do understand

         10  the need that there is to keep dogs on leashes, and

         11  that if there is not enough enforcement of that,

         12  particularly in the day hours where more folks are

         13  in the park, that that will lead to more incidents

         14  like that, and it is an issue of safety for children

         15  in particular, and for smaller dogs, and I do

         16  support my colleagues call to ensure that your

         17  agency does everything possible and prudent to

         18  enforce the law because it is the law in the City of

         19  New York that those dogs need to be on a leash.

         20  Dogs sometimes are very unpredictable, and we do not

         21  know the caliber of the owners, which most of the

         22  time bear the responsibility for dogs that are

         23  overly violent.

         24                 So, I just wanted to add that in

         25  support of my colleague.
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          2                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          4                 We have been joined by Council Member

          5  Gale Brewer, sorry Gale, I did not know that you

          6  were behind me, and now we will have a question by

          7  Council Member Addabbo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair.

         10                 Commissioner, I want to thank you and

         11  your team from the Parks Department for your time

         12  here today, and this useful testimony.

         13                 Couple of questions I may have.

         14                 First has to do with lifeguards, but

         15  before I go any further, I do want to commend

         16  Commissioner Cavanaugh and Commissioner Lewindowsky

         17  from our borough for appearing in my district, going

         18  to different civic group meetings, and addressing

         19  this very important issue, especially in the

         20  Rockaways.  So, I again give them thanks for their

         21  time at these nightly civic meetings.

         22                 What is the actual budget for

         23  recruitment for lifeguards?

         24                 Where is the allocated money in the

         25  Parks budget for the recruitment of lifeguards?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  We do not have

          3  a specific allocation but I think it is safe to say

          4  we do whatever is necessary.

          5                 We have printed a lot of posters, as

          6  you can see. I do not know if you were here when I

          7  showed this full page ad that we ran, all the

          8  posters that we sent to all the community boards, to

          9  all of the elected officials, the City Council, the

         10  State Legislature.

         11                 This year, we expanded our

         12  recruitment to all Division I and II colleges with

         13  swimming teams across the country. We are

         14  saying,`come to New York, have a great summer, earn

         15  $500.00 a week, and protect the City's beaches and

         16  pools.'  So, we are hopeful.  We probably have the

         17  biggest outreach effort ever, and frankly, I will

         18  get you the details, I do not want to sound glib,

         19  but frankly, we have not worried about what it is

         20  costing to do the outreach.  We have placed ads in

         21  all of the daily newspapers, and the weekly

         22  newspapers, and the ethnic press.  We have got, some

         23  you may have read the PSA's running on the

         24  television and the radio. So, we are pushing all of

         25  the buttons.
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          2                 I think the trick is you are finding

          3  the people who can swim, particularly for your

          4  district, Rockaway Beach, it has to be somebody who

          5  knows how to swim.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Yes, I

          7  understand that in my district, the Rockaways, the

          8  currents dictate that we get, supposedly, the cream

          9  of the crop as far as lifeguards are concerned,

         10  those who are qualified to be there, and again, I

         11  appreciate your efforts.

         12                 Would you say you are more optimistic

         13  this year than in years past about the recruitment

         14  efforts of the Department?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I would say

         16  that we have worked as hard or harder than we have

         17  ever worked.  I do not want to say anything about

         18  how well we have done.  Let us wait and see what it

         19  looks like on opening day.  It is like the manager

         20  of a baseball team saying how the team's going to

         21  win the pennant while they are still in spring

         22  training.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I do also

         24  appreciate your efforts with the Department of

         25  Education.  I think that it is a marriage that is
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          2  long overdue, teaching water safety at least, in

          3  classrooms, and then gleaning from that, possibly,

          4  some qualified lifeguards.  So again, I appreciate

          5  your efforts there.

          6                 Two issues that have come up in my

          7  district regarding lifeguards, and hopefully as a

          8  useful tool to augment the number of qualified

          9  lifeguards, one is the use of part- time lifeguards.

         10    Either these are lifeguards that were full- time

         11  lifeguards in the past but now have a full- time

         12  occupation, that maybe available on weekends, or

         13  fire fighters, police officers, teachers, who may

         14  qualify as well.

         15                 What is the Departments', I guess,

         16  position on the possible use of part- time

         17  lifeguards, maybe on the weekends to fill in the

         18  gaps for the full- time lifeguards who will not be

         19  available?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I would like to

         21  ask Commissioner Cavanaugh, who is our First Deputy,

         22  included in his duties are the beaches and pools.

         23                 Liam.

         24                 COMMISSIONER CAVANAUGH:  As we have

         25  discussed directly, there were part- time
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          2  lifeguards, I think 25 or 30 years ago.  There were

          3  problems with their attendance and then their

          4  attention to their duties in some cases, and as a

          5  result, we phased them out and relied on full- time

          6  employees.

          7                 However, because of the shortage of

          8  beach lifeguards especially, we are looking at that

          9  again.  We have had some discussions with both the

         10  union and some other people who are involved, and we

         11  may be able to offer some positions this coming

         12  summer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  All right

         14  Commissioner, I do appreciate your efforts there as

         15  well, and if I could be of any help because I

         16  believe that we can utilize these qualified part

         17  time lifeguards, as I said, to fill in the gaps.  So

         18  again, I would be more than happy to help you in

         19  your discussions with the union in getting that

         20  issue forward.

         21                 Second issue, again, trying to find

         22  out ways to increase the number of qualified

         23  lifeguards, is the pay.  We are finding sometimes

         24  that there are individuals who may go through our

         25  system being trained for lifeguards, but then they
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          2  jump to Jones Beach because Jones Beach paid a

          3  higher hourly rate, and I believe there is a

          4  differential in how they are being paid in Jones

          5  Beach.              Do you think that if we slightly

          6  increase the pay for these lifeguards, and again, it

          7  is not something that is going to break our budget,

          8  we are talking a couple of dollars here?

          9                 Do you think that that would help in

         10  the recruitment and retention of the lifeguards in

         11  our boroughs?

         12                 COMMISSIONER CAVANAUGH:  I think a

         13  higher salary would make the job more appealing,

         14  yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And again, I

         16  would encourage my colleagues to think about that as

         17  we go through the budget process.  For a small

         18  amount of money we can retain and recruit

         19  lifeguards, actually keep them in our boroughs if we

         20  just, again, pay comparable to what they are getting

         21  out in Nassau County.

         22                 My second line of questioning, you

         23  know when we look at the budget each and every year,

         24  it seems that the fate of our parks and the

         25  condition of our parks are basically a victim of the
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          2  economic climate of the City.  Yet, we hold our

          3  breath every year to see how the City does

          4  financially, just to see if the City Council can

          5  restore $2 million for PEP officers and so forth,

          6  and I know we spoke about baselining today.  It

          7  would be great if we could work together on

          8  baselining for issues such as PEP officers,

          9  seasonals and so forth but I look at the

         10  concessions, and I see that we raise so much money

         11  through the concessions in our parks, and then we

         12  give it back to the City, retaining very little for

         13  our parks.

         14                 How much do parks concession raise

         15  for the general fund for the City?

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It is close to

         17  $70 million this year.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Seventy?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Seventy

         20  million.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Seventy

         22  million?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Seventy

         24  million, right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  So, even a
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          2  fraction of that.  Even just a small percentage of

          3  that, if we were to allocate that as a dedicated

          4  revenue for Parks, we could pay for our seasonals,

          5  our PEP officers, tree pruning.  You know, all we

          6  need is a percentage of that.  I am not saying take

          7  the whole thing. Obviously, that would put a major

          8  hole in our budget, but do you agree that we can

          9  work on possibly getting a percentage of that $70

         10  million instead of handing right over into our

         11  general fund, retaining a percentage of that for our

         12  PEP officers, lifeguards, seasonals and so forth?

         13  Is that possible?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, this is

         15  an idea which has been suggested in years past, in

         16  fact, I believe in the state park system the money

         17  is kept by the state parks.

         18                 I suppose if the money were put back

         19  in our budget, and were not taken out on the other

         20  side, it would be a good thing.              The

         21  issue is I think, it is all fungible expense budget

         22  money.  It goes to general fund, and then it is

         23  turned and it is used to pay for police officers,

         24  and fire fighters and teachers, and a piece of it

         25  comes back to us, depending on how you count things.
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          2

          3                 So, that is money that is counted on

          4  towards the general operating expenses of the City.

          5  If they wanted to let us keep a piece of it, rather

          6  than putting back for another way, it would be fine.

          7    I know some of the Parks' advocates have spoken

          8  out for it, it is something that exists in some

          9  other park systems.  I would not be opposed to it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And I

         11  appreciate that, and I would love for this committee

         12  to work with your Department, and again, just

         13  finding out what the mechanism is to keep a

         14  percentage of those concessions, $70 million worth

         15  for, again, these items. This way, we do not have to

         16  hold our breath, cross our fingers and toes, to see

         17  if we can fund these essential items for the Parks

         18  Department.

         19                 So again, I appreciate your position

         20  on that, and I look forward to working with this

         21  Committee to see if we can make that happen.

         22                 Thank you, Commissioner.

         23                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         25                 Council Member Brewer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 Thank you Adrian Benepe.

          5                 My question is this, I know that the

          6  Parks Department where they operate Board of

          7  Education/Parks' Playgrounds, they are excellent.

          8  The trouble is where the Department of Education

          9  runs playgrounds, they are not so excellent.  They

         10  are not open as often, et cetera.

         11                 So, my question is, is it possible to

         12  do more partnerships?

         13                 Is it possible to think of a way that

         14  would both enhance the playground for the students,

         15  and also for the public? And is this something that,

         16  obviously it costs money but has been considered?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, thank you

         18  very much Council Member Brewer.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Gale is fine,

         20  go ahead.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  We are in

         22  public, Council member.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  That is okay.

         24    Go ahead.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  First of all, I
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          2  do want to note the presence of Mark Rosenthal, head

          3  of Local 983, which includes the PEP officers, so,

          4  welcome Mark.

          5                 In fact, we have begun discussions

          6  with the Department of Education as part of the

          7  Mayor's Strategic Land Use planning process to look

          8  at the fact that the population is growing, and

          9  neighborhoods across the City are increasing in

         10  population but the amount of available open space to

         11  create new parks just is not there, and it is

         12  increasingly difficult to take over private land for

         13  public park purposes.

         14                 But we have some initial discussions

         15  with the Department of Education, fairly fruitful I

         16  would say in terms of being able to take some of the

         17  Department of Education properties and open them on

         18  weekends and during the summer, and figuring out

         19  whether they would staff them, or we would staff

         20  them, or how that would work is part of the

         21  discussion, but in fact, it is a good idea.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, so is

         23  that an expense/capital concern?  Obviously it would

         24  be a great thing to do.

         25                 Will you have some dollars affixed to
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          2  that, or is that still in negotiation?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  We are just

          4  beginning the discussion, but having that opening to

          5  discuss it, when for years it has not been an option

          6  is good.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  And then

          9  figuring out whether we can do it with our existing

         10  budget because we do have staff in the area anyway,

         11  or the Department of Education has its custodians,

         12  and maybe they could take care of it.

         13                 You know, if you have an asphalt play

         14  yard, there is not that much you have to do except

         15  pick up the litter that might have accumulated over

         16  the weekend.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, and

         18  then second I appreciate the wonderful architectural

         19  firm hired to renovate the 59th Street Rec. Center,

         20  and just to say that we are working as hard as we

         21  can to come up with funding, and I know you have put

         22  some in Congressman Nadler, and certainly the

         23  Council has in the past, and developers.  But I just

         24  want as much support as possible as we go forward,

         25  and say that it is great to have Phase I, II and III
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          2  and hope that in three somehow, we will have the

          3  outdoor/indoor pool when it is all done.  So, I just

          4  put that down for your information.

          5                 We love Commissioner Castro, and

          6  Steven Simon and everyone else in the Manhattan

          7  office.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  We love them

         10  too.  Thank you, Gale.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         12                 I have just two questions on the

         13  capital end.

         14                 The Flight 587 memorial has come up a

         15  couple of times today, where are we in the design

         16  phase, and does it look like we will have something

         17  before the fifth anniversary to commemorate that

         18  tragic event?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  If Commissioner

         20  Frietag who is closer to that project can speak,

         21  thank you.

         22                 MS. FRIETAG:  We are well on our way.

         23    We have a fantastic design, as you probably have

         24  seen, working with Freddie Rodrequiz, a local artist

         25  who also has roots in the Dominican Republic, and we
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          2  have done a preliminary design that is actually

          3  already in the bid cycle.  We have moved forward.

          4  We are going to be doing construction through this

          5  summer season.  We will be finishing up comfort

          6  stations, and we are going to be absolutely

          7  determined to have something there for the memorial

          8  anniversary.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That is good to

         10  hear.

         11                 Can you tell me a little about the

         12  Randall's Island water park?  Oh, you are leaving?

         13  Oh, I guess that is not you, okay.

         14                 MS. FRIETAG:  There are smarter

         15  people than me that know about that, so I will defer

         16  my seat, thanks.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, the water

         18  park, and where we are and has there been any

         19  thought put into, not necessarily the water park on

         20  Randall's Island but just having a pedestrian access

         21  bridge or something leading from- so pedestrians can

         22  walk to Randall's Island?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  The water park

         24  is the next thing to have over the water park

         25  because it goes back to FCRC for final approval.  We
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          2  are in final negotiations for the developer who has

          3  been selected.  It remains to be seen whether that

          4  will take place.  If all moves forward, it will then

          5  go into construction and open in a couple of years.

          6                 We do have pedestrian access to

          7  Randall's Island two ways right now.  There is the

          8  foot bridge at about 116th Street, is it?  There is

          9  a foot bridge that goes over, and there is also

         10  pedestrian access on the Triborough Bridge, there

         11  are pedestrian walkways but we- the ultimate Master

         12  Plan for the island includes getting a bridge for

         13  the Bronx.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That was what I

         15  was talking about.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, so that

         17  the Master Plan includes- well, the new track and

         18  field stadium, which has been built, the water park,

         19  the ballfields project, which we hope will commence

         20  at some point, and a lot of access.  A tennis

         21  center, we have got a new pedestrian path, a sort of

         22  nature trail, which is opening this spring.  So,

         23  this is a park that has been waiting for 70 years

         24  to, sort of, start becoming more like a park, and it

         25  is gradually happening.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  You mentioned

          3  that the pedestrian bridge from the Bronx is in the

          4  Master Plan.

          5                 What year or phase or--?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It is just a

          7  question of money, as with everything.  A lot of

          8  what happens at Randall's Island will be dependant

          9  on getting either capital allocations or private

         10  money, as in the case of the water park, it is

         11  principally private money.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right, I was

         13  going to ask, now the water park is private money to

         14  build the park itself, is that correct?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  There has been a

         17  trend towards indoor water parks so that they are

         18  accessed all year round.

         19                 Was that ever considered or did--?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It is part of

         21  the plan.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, it is?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, that is

         24  why there will be so many jobs associated with the

         25  project.  There will be about 600 jobs, principally
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          2  because there will be a year round attraction that

          3  brings people to the island, and helps to pay for

          4  the development and the operating costs.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, Council

          6  Member Reyna has some questions.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you,

          8  Madam Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Commissioner,

         11  I know that you are drawing towards the end of your

         12  panel here.  I just wanted to touch base because the

         13  following hearing is going to be on the Sanitation

         14  Committee, and I know that the Hudson River Park or

         15  the Friends of Hudson River Park had a lawsuit that

         16  was settled with the City as far as a 1998 state law

         17  establishing the park.  The City had violated that

         18  law, and I wanted to just find out, the City's waste

         19  plan includes the construction of a recycling

         20  station on the Gansevoort Pier.

         21                 Would you know if this is going to

         22  require amending the Hudson River Park Act?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, it would.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And what is

         25  the current status of that?
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          2                 Has that already occurred?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It has not

          4  happened yet, but it would have to happen for that

          5  to go ahead.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I know you

          7  hear Gale.

          8                 Have you had recent discussions as

          9  far as the amending of the Hudson River Park Act?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I am not aware

         11  of the current status.  I do sit on the board of the

         12  Hudson River Park Trust, but as to what is being

         13  pursued in terms of the amending, I am not sure.

         14  But it is as you know, part of a much larger issue

         15  of how the City gets rid of its solid waste, and

         16  each borough has to do its part in doing that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Now, if the

         18  Hudson River Park Act has not been amended as needed

         19  for the waste plant that is being proposed, there is

         20  $21.5 million that supposedly will be going into the

         21  Park to improve it, is that going to move forward,

         22  or that is going to be held until all of this is

         23  settled?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I will ask

         25  Assistant Commissioner, Joshua Laird, Assistant
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          2  Commissioner for Planning and Natural Resources to

          3  handle this.  He is much smarter than I am in these

          4  issues.

          5                 MR. LAIRD:  I doubt that but I do

          6  have data at my fingertips.

          7                 Under the terms of the settlement,

          8  the $21.5 million settlement is earmarked for

          9  specific purposes.  Seven million dollars is

         10  earmarked for Pier 97, which is also currently

         11  occupied by the Department of Sanitation, up on 57th

         12  Street, and the remainder of $14.5 million is

         13  earmarked for the future park at Gansevoort.  Even

         14  in the eventuality, if the Hudson River Park Act is

         15  amended, and the sanitation facility remains at

         16  Gansevoort, a large portion of it would be a park,

         17  they would not retain the entire site.

         18                 So, the $14.5 million, however it

         19  plays out, will go into the Gansevoort.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  But none of

         21  that money has been spent, of the $21.5 million?

         22                 MR. LAIRD:  None of it has been spent

         23  yet, no.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  But it is

         25  allocated and reflected in the budget?
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          2                 MR. LAIRD:  It is, and it will be

          3  held also under the terms of the settlement, held

          4  essentially in escrow until it is ready to be spent.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All done?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  All done.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Great.

         10                 Thank you very much, Commissioner,

         11  and the rest of the park staff.

         12                 I want to say, it does not start or

         13  end with us in terms of this dance, but I think that

         14  we are all enough involved in the process that on

         15  each end, we can start having the conversations that

         16  we baseline items that we know that you know are

         17  vital to the City, and vital to the Parks

         18  Department.  So then, we can move on and have

         19  different hearings because, literally, every year as

         20  I said, we ask the same questions and you are put in

         21  the same predicament of we want the restorations,

         22  and you are right, it is helpful.  And moving

         23  forward, I think that we can be innovators of change

         24  and make a difference on how we do this budget

         25  process.
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          2                 So thank you very much, and I am sure

          3  we will be speaking soon.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I just want to

          5  say on behalf of the Department and the millions of

          6  people that use the parks every day, I want to thank

          7  you Helen, Chairman Foster, for your leadership of

          8  this Committee and the committee members for taking

          9  so seriously the parks of New York City.  We

         10  appreciate all of your strong interest.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         12                 Our next panel will be Allison

         13  Farina, New Yorkers for Parks, David Rivel, City

         14  Parks Foundation, and Richard Lattis, Wildlife

         15  Conservation Society.

         16                 I am also going to add to that panel,

         17  can we add two more chairs, Al Butzel from the

         18  Friends of Hudson River Park.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 MS. FARINA:   Good morning, it is

         21  still morning.  My name is Allison Farina.  I am the

         22  Director of Government and Community Affairs for New

         23  Yorkers for Parks, the citywide watchdog and

         24  advocate for all city parks, playgrounds, and

         25  beaches.
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          2                 Good morning Madam Chair, members of

          3  the Parks Committee.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Allison, just a

          5  minute.

          6                 MS. FARINA:  Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  As people are

          8  leaving, we are still conducting a hearing, so if

          9  you could leave quietly and have conversations in

         10  the hallway.  Thank you.

         11                 MS. FARINA:  As you may know, New

         12  Yorkers for Parks is committed to ensuring that

         13  every neighborhood in every borough receives green,

         14  clean and safe parks, and we commend the Council,

         15  particularly Council Member Foster, as well as the

         16  Speaker, for opening this dialog and working to

         17  improve the City's flawed budget process.

         18                 I am here to echo basically and

         19  strengthen the comments that you have said today,

         20  Council Member Foster and everyone else who was here

         21  before.

         22                 This budget dance has got to end, and

         23  these PEP officer and the other programs, such as

         24  the Playground Associate Program and the seasonal

         25  workers are so very vital to the parks of New York
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          2  City.

          3                 I also want to mention in addition to

          4  the wonderful PEP officers work, they stopped

          5  basically a rape from happening in Forest Park.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 I also want to mention, there is

          8  another PEP officer here today, his name is Robert

          9  Simon, and he has been working for the last several

         10  days on the fires out in Staten Island, in Great

         11  Kills Park, Ocean Breeze Park, Fox Beach, Oakwood

         12  Beach, thank you very much.  That is the work, this

         13  is what is at stake.  These PEP officers and these

         14  unsung heroes, the street pruning program is another

         15  thing that is part of what is on the chopping block.

         16

         17                 So as always, we ask that you

         18  restore, if that need be, the I think it is close to

         19  $14 million that is slated to be cut, and then as

         20  always, we ask you to increase the Parks Department

         21  budget.

         22                 This year we are asking $10 million

         23  additional dollars to beef up, even further, these

         24  particular programs.  We need $5 additional million

         25  towards the gardeners, pruners, recreation
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          2  specialists, and city park workers.  Three

          3  additional million to hire even more PEP officers,

          4  and an additional million each for the Street Tree

          5  Pruning Program and the Playground Associate

          6  Program.

          7                 So, we strongly urge the Council to

          8  restore and baseline the Mayor's proposed cuts, and

          9  then add that additional $10 million.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         12                 MR. RIVEL:  Good morning, I am David

         13  Rivel.  I am the Executive Director of the City

         14  Parks Foundation.

         15                 I think you are familiar with our

         16  work but just briefly, we work citywide to improve

         17  neighborhood parks, and we do that by doing two

         18  things.

         19                 First of all, we do programs in

         20  parks, free programs in parks to get people to come

         21  out to their parks, and use their parks, and love

         22  their parks.  And then the second thing we do, is we

         23  work with community groups and residents to become

         24  productively involved in their parks as supporters

         25  of their parks, and the city council has, every
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          2  year, given us an allocation so that we can continue

          3  our work.  I just wanted to thank you again for

          4  that, and to encourage you to renew the allocation

          5  for this coming fiscal year.

          6                 I will not read all of my remarks, we

          7  have a list of all the programs that we do contained

          8  in them but I do want to tell you about a couple of

          9  new programs that we are going to launching this

         10  coming season.

         11                 We have a new program for seniors

         12  called City Parks Seniors Fitness, that is going to

         13  be taking place in parks across the city.  It will

         14  include tennis, fitness walking, biking and yoga for

         15  seniors.

         16                 We also have a new program called

         17  City Parks Theater, which is going to provide free

         18  theater in communities around the city, and

         19  educational programs for kids in those parks.      There

         20  has been a lot of talk this morning about a budget

         21  dance, a different kind of dance.  We are going to

         22  be launching City Parks Dance this summer, which

         23  will provide New York City dance companies the

         24  chance to perform in parks across the city.

         25                 We have a new educational program
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          2  called Coastal Classroom, which is taking place

          3  along the Queens waterfront.

          4                 We also are exploring the idea of

          5  building a junior golf center.  We run a free golf

          6  program for kids every summer.  We have free lessons

          7  every summer from the City Parks Foundation, and we

          8  would like to build a home for these kids to go and

          9  practice and meet other junior golfers, and with

         10  your support, we would be looking to start

         11  construction on that sometime later this summer.

         12                 The City Parks Foundation works in

         13  700 parks all around the City.  We have programs in

         14  every city council district, and we thank you again

         15  for your support.

         16                 MR. BUTZEL:  Madam Chairman, and

         17  other council members, Ms. Reyna, Mr. Addabbo, great

         18  to see you guys.

         19                 I come here every year with the same

         20  story but this year I just want to echo again by

         21  echoing what Allison and David said.  This council

         22  has been fabulous for parks, and we are so grateful

         23  to all that you have done.  I in particular, for

         24  Hudson River Park but just in terms of restorations

         25  and the like.  It is not that the Mayor has not been
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          2  good, it is just that you guys have been great, and

          3  I thank you, really, very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          5                 MR. BUTZEL:  I will not read my

          6  testimony, I will simply say that Hudson River Park

          7  is proceeding very nicely, and a great deal of that

          8  is due to the council.

          9                 In 2004, we were really logjammed,

         10  there was no more money to build, and the council

         11  proposed to the Mayor that he add $50 million to the

         12  budget, and then negotiated it out at $31 million.

         13  That money is being spent now to build in Clinton

         14  and in Chelsea to begin construction in Chelsea.  It

         15  has succeeded in securing $31 million of matching

         16  funds from the state, and we got money from the

         17  LMDC, so we have done quite well.

         18                 Nonetheless, there is a long way to

         19  go.  The Mayor has $16 million for the park in his

         20  budget this year.  That really is not new money,

         21  that is the money that you guys negotiated and

         22  persuaded him to put in two years ago.  Of course,

         23  we want you to support that.  It is, for all intents

         24  and purposes, already contracted to build the park

         25  in Chelsea.
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          2                 We are hoping that we can increase

          3  that pool by $8 million in order to complete the

          4  work in Chelsea rather than just have it broken up

          5  into two separate parts.  We are trying to secure $4

          6  million more from the city this year, and $4 million

          7  from the state.  We would like the council to

          8  consider adding $2 million of its own capital, and

          9  challenge the Mayor to match $2 million more, which

         10  would then create the pool on the city side, and it

         11  would be made contingent on the state coming up with

         12  the same money.

         13                 Again, it all I can do is say thank

         14  you for all you have done for Hudson River Park, and

         15  for so many other parks. Someday I will be here

         16  speaking to you in another guise, we just organized

         17  a new coalition, and we are working very closely

         18  with the borough president, and one of our goals is

         19  to actually leaver money between the borough

         20  president and the Mayor and the council to do

         21  projects that otherwise might get ignored, but that

         22  will have to wait.

         23                 Thanks very much.

         24                 MR. LATTIS:  Good morning Madam

         25  Chairwoman, members of the Committee and New York
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          2  City Council.

          3                 I am Richard Lattis, Senior Vice

          4  President and General Director of the Living

          5  Institutions for the Wildlife Conservation Society.

          6                 As manager of the worlds largest

          7  system of urban wildlife parks, we host more than 4

          8  million guests at the Bronx Zoo, the New York

          9  Aquarium, and the zoo's in Prospect Park, Queens,

         10  and Central Park.

         11                 As conservationists, we work with

         12  local communities and governments in New York, and

         13  around the world toward a sustainable future for

         14  people and wildlife.  But we always come home to New

         15  York, and we care deeply about the communities in

         16  which we work.  We are proud to be New Yorkers, and

         17  we are proud of the four zoos and the aquarium we

         18  operate as well.

         19                 Together, our parks have annual

         20  economic impact of more than $550 million.  We

         21  provide 1,400 jobs to city residents, and continue

         22  to be the largest employer of youth in the Bronx.

         23  We have trained over 13,500 city school teachers

         24  since 1995, and last year hosted over 3,900 city

         25  school groups.  We reach out to the underserved and
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          2  at risk populations, while working to protect and

          3  improve local ecosystems.

          4                 One of our most important partners in

          5  all of this is the New York City Department of Parks

          6  and Recreation.  Their support to our zoos, Prospect

          7  Park, Queens, and Central Park has made it possible

          8  for so many residents of these boroughs, as well as

          9  visitors from outside our five boroughs to enjoy a

         10  safe, educational, and fulfilling experience for

         11  their families.  The Parks Department provides the

         12  majority of the operating budgets for these zoos.

         13                 Thanks to the Mayor and the city

         14  council, I am proud to announce that each of these

         15  zoos will soon have a new exhibit to further our

         16  conservation cause, and increase the popularity and

         17  the opportunity for family enjoyment of our guests.

         18  We will constructing a jaguar exhibit in Queens, an

         19  Amur leopard in Prospect Park, in case you do not

         20  know what an Amur leopard is they come from Siberia,

         21  and a new exhibit for snow leopards in Central Park.

         22

         23                 Our institutions need support for

         24  their infrastructure as well as funds to provide for

         25  new exhibits.  As our well as funds to provide for

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  new exhibits.  As our partner for over 20 years, the

          3  Parks Department in collaboration with the Office of

          4  Management and Budget will fund much needed

          5  infrastructure for the projects in these city zoos.

          6                 This collaboration is certainly the

          7  beginning of a true understanding of the importance

          8  of these zoos to their respective boroughs, the

          9  diverse communities they serve, and New York City as

         10  a whole.  We ask that you support the great works of

         11  the Parks Department by protecting it from cuts

         12  proposed in the Fiscal`07 Preliminary Budget, and

         13  fully restore its operating support.

         14                 And in closing, I would just say that

         15  I have been in the zoo business for 32 years, I am

         16  very familiar with how parks departments and zoos

         17  work around the United States.  I have worked with

         18  Garden Davis.  I have worked with Henry Stern, Betsy

         19  Gotbaum, and now Adrian Benepe.  We have the best

         20  partnership anywhere in the United States.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 Have you ever considered doing voice-

         25  overs?  You have the best voice.
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          2                 MR. LATTIS:  Thank you, maybe I need

          3  to retire and go into another business.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I am sure I have

          5  told you this before.  You definitely could sell

          6  something with that voice, but on a serious note, I

          7  appreciate that you are thanking us, but I want to

          8  thank you all for what you do in each community in

          9  terms of our parks.  I think a lot of times when we

         10  look at the City, sometimes we forget how important

         11  parks, zoos, just open space are to our everyday

         12  life.  So, thank you very much.

         13                 Any questions?

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 Our next panel is Jon Forester,

         16  Joseph Puleo, and Anne Emerman, oh Anne, where is

         17  Anne?  There she is.

         18                 MR. PULEO:  Good afternoon, actually,

         19  city council people.

         20                 I would like thank you for the

         21  restoration of last year's budget which allowed the

         22  50- somewhat PEP officers that we have today.  I

         23  just would like to say, when I first started as a

         24  PEP officer back in the early 90's, there was about

         25  450 PEP officers.  Today as you know, there is only
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          2  83 that are allocated.

          3                 I think it is just a small amount of

          4  money that the Parks needs to spend on these

          5  officers.  These officers protect the safety of the

          6  parks, they protect the people, and in a lot of

          7  cases in these districts the also protect the people

          8  from unleashed dog walkers.

          9                 I would just like to thank you again.

         10  I know you guys know what the issue is here, and

         11  there is no sense in me trying to convince the

         12  convinced.

         13                 So once again, thanks for all your

         14  help, and hopefully we will have this money

         15  allocated for next year.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 MR. FORESTER:  Good afternoon.  My

         18  name is Jon Forester, I am the First Vice President

         19  with Local 375.  We represent over 200 architects,

         20  landscape architects, construction project managers,

         21  and engineers that work for the Parks Department,

         22  especially at the Olmstead Center, and I just want

         23  to start by saying I think that there is some

         24  tremendous, particularly inhouse designs that the

         25  Parks Department turns out, City Hall Park, Brooklyn
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          2  Bridge Park  They have just been involved with the

          3  building of the first Lead (phonetic) building,

          4  compliant with Local Law 86, in the design of--.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, I am sorry

          6  about that, don't you apologize, just- but, are you

          7  sure you are okay?  I mean you are like a little

          8  embarrassed because you fell, but do not be, we are

          9  more concerned about that you are all right.

         10                 Okay good, I am sorry go ahead.

         11                 MR. FORESTER:  Yes okay, I hope you

         12  are okay.

         13                 And they have been involved with the

         14  design of the Lead compliant building out in Marine-

         15  Midland Park, very much involved with the greenway

         16  that the Commissioner indicated that it included the

         17  concrete plant up in the Bronx, along the Bronx

         18  River, our people oversaw the construction of the

         19  new Snow leopard habitat in the Bronx Zoo, and we

         20  have cutting edge designers on handicapped

         21  accessible playgrounds around this City.  So, a lot

         22  of good projects coming out of Parks.

         23                 However, we are also concerned.  And

         24  we are concerned in particular what seems to be,

         25  kind of, this dogged determination to reorganize the
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          2  Olmstead Center in the Parks Department, which of

          3  course is the design center, and the creation of

          4  Borough Teams that were supposed to bring together

          5  design elements with construction elements.  It has

          6  ended up with a result of creating two new levels of

          7  bureaucracy, frankly, we have confused lines of

          8  communication, and a slowdown in the design process.

          9    We are concerned because in 2002, the management

         10  salaries at Olmstead totalled about $600,000-

         11  $700,000.  Today, those management salaries are $2

         12  million, it is not just because of increases in

         13  salaries but increases in management numbers.

         14                 The costs on the other hand of

         15  designers salaries in Olmstead is about the same.

         16  Since 2002, there has been approximately a 50

         17  percent increase in the number of jobs that have

         18  been sent out to consultants, and I think very

         19  importantly, the bottom line in this is that even

         20  though prior to 2002 the Parks had turned out up to

         21  $250 million of worth capital money projects, since

         22  2002, they have yet to reach $150 million.  So,

         23  something in this reorganization is not working, and

         24  we have several suggestions in terms of how we think

         25  it can work better.
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          2                 One, and this is contained in the

          3  report that I have asked to be passed out, but one

          4  is certainly to look at a reduction in the number of

          5  management people and bring it back to inhouse staff

          6  instead.  I think what you will have is an increased

          7  production efficiency, and frankly, a lower cost as

          8  a result.

          9                 Secondly, I think that there should

         10  be a reduction in the number of jobs that are given

         11  to consultants.  Consistently, we are able to show

         12  that when we can do the work inhouse, we can do it

         13  less expensively, and we are going to save money,

         14  not only for Parks, but for the taxpayers in

         15  general.

         16                 And then finally and specifically,

         17  outlined in the report that was prepared in December

         18  of 2005, that remains true today as well, there are

         19  in fact specific suggestions that we are putting

         20  forth as ways where we can create a better

         21  efficiency, strengthen the inhouse program, expand

         22  the professional staff in Parks by actually using

         23  the civil service list, I mean, that has got to be

         24  done much more.  There are certain gaps right now

         25  where we could really, engineering in particular has
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          2  been a problem needing to bring in engineers.  Build

          3  the production staff relative to the management

          4  staff, reassess the borough team concepts, they have

          5  tended to be a little too ridged, does not allow for

          6  a sharing of staff, and I would suggest a more

          7  holistic citywide assessment of project loads and

          8  staffing needs that would supersede the borough team

          9  structures when necessary, and a design review

         10  process that at this point, is often slowed by the

         11  numbers of reviews and the numbers of peer reviews,

         12  which are as important, particularly in the early

         13  parts of the project.  Frankly, as you get into the

         14  later parts of the projects, they begin to become

         15  overly critical and slow down the projects.

         16                 One other issue, there are several

         17  here listed, but I will leave that to you kind of

         18  peruse but another very important issue is the

         19  inefficient and ergonomically inappropriate work

         20  stations that are currently there in the Olmstead

         21  Center, where basically as computerization has come

         22  in over the last several years, many of those

         23  computers have simply been placed on drafting tables

         24  and that has created, not only an inefficiency at

         25  work but actually physical problems for many of the
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          2  people there, and we have actually had this

          3  grievance with the Parks Department, but frankly, I

          4  think they ought to do the right thing.  I think

          5  they ought to invest, and I think they ought to

          6  create ergonomically correct equipment for our

          7  members to work with.  I think it would be the right

          8  thing to do, and I think it would help with

          9  productivity.

         10                 So, several suggestions I would like

         11  to leave with you but thank you very much for

         12  attention.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         15                 MS. EMERMAN:  Good afternoon.  It is

         16  good to see you again.

         17                 My name is Anne Emerman, and I am

         18  testifying here today on behalf of Disabled In

         19  Action, a 35- year old civil rights organization,

         20  and the Gray Panthers Chapter of New York City, and

         21  our concern is access to all of the centers; the

         22  parks, the pools and the programs, for adults using

         23  wheelchair, for parents with disabled children, and

         24  older people who visit the parks in their walkers

         25  and other mobility aids.
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          2                 Unfortunately, and while I celebrate

          3  our parks, and I frequently visit our local parks

          4  and Central Park, the Parks Department has for too

          5  long ignored its responsibilities under federal law.

          6

          7                 Going back to 1978 with the

          8  rehabilitation act, the ADA, 16 years ago, and

          9  certain rules and regulations in the Department of

         10  Justice, these have not been complied with, and that

         11  was verified recently by a report that State

         12  Comptroller Alan Hevesi put out in December of 2005.

         13    He points out that of the 50 new projects that

         14  Parks undertook in the past four years, 26 of them

         15  were not accessible, had not plans for

         16  accessibility.  And I would say those that were

         17  accessible in the last four years came about because

         18  disability advocates or the City Human Rights

         19  Commission or community board knowledgeable folks on

         20  boards made it happen.

         21                 In my own experience, 16 years on

         22  Community Board 6, Asser Levy Park Pool and

         23  Playground is accessible, as is the 54th Street Pool

         24  and Recreation Center, the Styvesant Cove part,

         25  mainly because there were voices there saying,`where
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          2  is the access in this project?'  It is not built in

          3  automatically.  It may be now, since the

          4  comptroller's report, but there was no fail- safe

          5  built in efforts to make anything happen with regard

          6  to the planning.

          7                 Some of the projects you know,

          8  certainly here at City Hall Park, $28 million

          9  renovation put in these cobblestones that created

         10  problems for wheelchairs users, sent them into

         11  spasms and twisted many an ankle, and they failed to

         12  put in access to the Plaza where there are public

         13  events and press conferences.  It was not until

         14  after the creation of the Committee on Mental Health

         15  and Disability, did certain things began to happen.

         16  Certainly the one I know about was the East River

         17  Park, the Amphitheater, the comfort station, the

         18  route to the area, were not being made wheelchair

         19  accessible, that was $16 million public/private

         20  partnership.

         21                 Well, with the intervention of the

         22  former chair of the disability committee, it

         23  happened.  But it also took input from the City

         24  Human Rights Commission, and advocates.

         25                 I am happy to say that there is now a
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          2  ramp out here to the Plaza.

          3                 Ironically with all these inabilities

          4  to comply, over a long period of time, the Parks

          5  Department used the ADA to disingenuosly or

          6  erroneously inform the public, Community Board 2, I

          7  would even say the Landmarks and Art Commission that

          8  they had to level and move the fountain and plaza

          9  area in order to meet the Americans with

         10  Disabilities Act.  Not so.  They could have put in

         11  ramps to the sunken plaza at a far less cost of

         12  providing this new design that lines up with the

         13  arch and 5th Avenue, instead of Thompson Street, and

         14  they would have had the money to renovate the

         15  playgrounds and the comfort station, and the

         16  pathways on which children and seniors trip.

         17                      So my appeal to you is to

         18  provide vigorous oversight over this Department,

         19  which creates many wonderful and beautiful things

         20  but up until now, has not had access for all

         21  community members to their wonderful parks and

         22  playground facilities.

         23                 We urge vigorous oversight.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very
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          2  much to everyone, and let me say Anne, I was a

          3  member of the Committee, and there were many things

          4  that being a member of the Committee opened my eyes

          5  to.  When you assume what happens, I assumed that

          6  going forward, the Parks Department would make every

          7  park accessible but we will definitely make sure,

          8  moving forward, and you and I can have a further

          9  conversation so that all our parks and greenspace

         10  needs to be open to everyone.

         11                 So, thank you very much.

         12                 MS. EMERMAN:  One other thing.  I do

         13  not know if the Parks Department distributed one of

         14  these to you, this one goes back to 2003, and at the

         15  time, Council Member Lopez noted so many years

         16  after, there are no international accessibility

         17  symbols on any of these wonderful programs from

         18  April to December that the Parks list in their

         19  program.

         20                 A request was made for that to happen

         21  three years ago.  I have personally asked for copies

         22  of the 2004 and 2005, and I have not received them

         23  but this is their program, it is sent out to the

         24  public.  It is probably on their Internet.  I would

         25  hope that three years later there would be
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          2  accessible symbols on some of these programs.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Well, we will

          4  look into that, and as you mentioned, it stems from

          5  the top down, so when we did this and I was not a

          6  part, but when Giuliani did the renovation of this

          7  City Hall, I do not know what he was thinking

          8  because I was actually there when someone fell out

          9  of their wheelchair and it is horrible to try to

         10  walk in heels, so I can imagine to try to maneuver a

         11  wheelchair.  But, thank you very much for your

         12  testimony, and it is something that we will work on.

         13                 MS. EMERMAN:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Our next panel

         15  is Tony Costa and Harry Bubbing (SIC).

         16                 MR. COSTA:  Hello, my name is Tony

         17  Costa.  This is my very first time here, I am not a

         18  public speaker.

         19                 I was born and raised in the Bronx,

         20  and I have to confess, I heard a lot of really nice

         21  things here about Parks. Greenspaces improve quality

         22  of life in our neighborhood.  Parks are significant

         23  in and of themselves to the devote significant

         24  resources.  Putting people first, increasing

         25  greenery, trees reduce air pollution, reduce energy
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          2  costs, raise property values, also the concept about

          3  a tree- laced community, and how that increased

          4  property values, and that is why caring for these

          5  trees are so important.

          6                 I am also very much encouraged that

          7  above the ceiling up there you will see a saying by

          8  Lincoln which says,`A government of the people, by

          9  the people, and for the people', however, despite

         10  the platitudes I hear about Parks, despite Lincoln's

         11  saying in this hallowed hall, I who live around

         12  Yankee Stadium, is a community facing devastation.

         13                 Before you in a couple of weeks,

         14  there will be the most important issue involving

         15  Parks in our City's history, whereby, the richest

         16  sports franchise in America, the New York Yankees,

         17  have somehow conspired to steal our Central Park,

         18  which is McCombs Dam Park and Mullaly Park just

         19  north of the Yankee Stadium on 161st Street.  This

         20  is unbelievable.  Somehow, people are not talking

         21  about this.  They actually think it is okay to set a

         22  precedence where a private enterprise will take a

         23  public good, our parks, which we have said so many

         24  nice things today about trees reducing air

         25  pollution, et cetera, and my neighborhood has the

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  highest asthma rate in the country.  It is called

          3  asthma alley, one out of every four children has

          4  asthma.  But, the City back on June 15, without any

          5  public discussion, debates or whatever has decided

          6  to do an agreement with the Yankees which was secret

          7  because you would need a Freedom of Information Act

          8  to get a copy, which definitely delays things, and

          9  eight days later we lost our park, through what

         10  happened in the State Assembly and over here in City

         11  Hall.

         12                 My community is just up in arms about

         13  this.  We simply do not understand, that what

         14  happens in my community about the park, will happen

         15  anywhere else around the City where anyone with

         16  political connections can conspire to, basically,

         17  take a public good.  New they say,`do not worry

         18  about it, we will get you better parks.'  They

         19  say,`we will build you four extra garages and we

         20  will put parks on top of it.'

         21                 Four extra garages in asthma alley.

         22  Four extra garages that will stand empty most time

         23  of the year.  Four extra garages that they want New

         24  York State to spend over $70 million when right now

         25  it is cutting back funding for schools.  Where are
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          2  the priorities?

          3                 There seems to be none.  Somehow, it

          4  seems to be okay that my district, the poorest

          5  congressional district in the country it is okay to,

          6  basically, give up our Central Park, which even

          7  Commissioner Stern has called it a Central Park

          8  because we have there a soccer fields, a track,

          9  baseball fields, greenery, 400 mature trees.  It is

         10  just all the time, it is also connects High Bridge

         11  area to the 161st merchants.  It is a very valuable

         12  resource.  That area, those parks are over 20 acres.

         13    That is bigger than the hole we have in the World

         14  Trade Center, which has been empty for five years,

         15  and even yesterday in the news they talked about

         16  it,`you have got to build there, it already been

         17  five years.'

         18                 But somehow, on June 15, the City

         19  signed something with the Yankees, a Memorandum of

         20  Understanding, to basically take the steps, whatever

         21  necessary steps to take, to take away our park,

         22  which is bigger than the World Trade Center, and

         23  have it built, or start to build by May 1st of this

         24  year.

         25                 Now, there is a lot of people,
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          2  basically involved in this plan, and I am sure the

          3  City Council realizes that what happened to the City

          4  Council on June 20th is not very encouraging. When I

          5  look up at that sign,`a government of the people, by

          6  the people and for the people' because, as you well

          7  know, on 6/20 there was no discussion about the

          8  alienation of our park, and a preconsidered item,

          9  which basically means that there is no debate, and

         10  that same day within 15 minutes, the Full City

         11  Council in a Stated Meeting, basically just said`go

         12  ahead', only one person abstained, Letitia James

         13  from Brooklyn because she has her own issue in her

         14  own district where they are trying to build

         15  something which she does not want to be built there,

         16  and the people there do not want it, and it is very

         17  bad for the City.  But, here I go back again, and I

         18  tell you, my community has become experts on trees,

         19  pollution, political process, garages, asthma rates,

         20  environmental issues, environmental impact studies,

         21  the final version, the draft version scoping things,

         22  all this stuff but somehow when you really look

         23  beyond all these smoking mirrors, what do you really

         24  get?

         25                 You get what happened between June

                                                            120

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  15th and June 23rd, where somehow my representative,

          3  Carmen Arroyo, presented in the State Legislative a

          4  few days after June 15, she said `alienate McCoombs

          5  Dam Park so we can build a new stadium for the

          6  Yankees.' By the next day, June 20th, the process

          7  went so fast in the morning, it went to the homeroom

          8  department where it became, it went straight into a

          9  subcommittee called The State and Federal

         10  Legislation, where at that meeting they talked about

         11  cigarette taxes, that was so critical, so much words

         12  about cigarette taxes, but nothing at all about the

         13  resolution to alienate our parks. Nothing at all,

         14  and then it goes a few hours later to the Full

         15  Committee, and in 15 minutes, without even any

         16  discussion, debates or anything like what they were

         17  looking at, they voted away the park.

         18                 Now, if this can happen to the

         19  poorest congressional district, maybe it could

         20  happen to your area too.  I really do not know, but

         21  this has to be stopped.  You have to vote`no' on

         22  this Yankee plan.  We could give you so many

         23  reasons.  We could tell you $480 million subsidies.

         24  We could tell you about the asthma rates. We could

         25  tell you about the empty garages.  Right now there
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          2  are there are two empty garages owned by the Parks

          3  Department on River Avenue and 162nd Street and

          4  157th Street, right now they are four stories high,

          5  they are empty at this very moment because

          6  Steinbrenner did not want my neighbors to use those

          7  garages, but that is not a problem.  Do you know

          8  why?  My poorest congressional district also has the

          9  lowest car ownership, so no sweat off our backs

         10  because basically, who uses those garages?  Just a

         11  bunch of outsiders.  They come over from--.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Mr. Costa, I am

         13  going to ask you to wrap up please.

         14                 MR. COSTA:  Yes, but basically what I

         15  want to say is that you as our government have a

         16  responsibility to basically vote`no' on the Yankee

         17  project.

         18                 You already know all the reasons why,

         19  but I think the most important reason really is, is

         20  what happened on June 20th, when basically without

         21  public discussion, debate, whatever, there was a tag

         22  team approach, were basically we lost our parks, and

         23  that is really the worst thing behind these smoking

         24  mirrors.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 MR. BUBBINS:  Hello, my name is Harry

          3  Bubbins, I am the Director of Friends of Brook Park.

          4  We are based in the south/south Bronx, and we also

          5  work throughout the City to provide environmental

          6  education and other opportunities.

          7                 Thanks a lot for this opportunity.

          8  We have been in support of One Percent for Parks

          9  Campaign from before, many of you have supported and

         10  we hope that somehow it will become a reality one

         11  day, and regarding the- as a park advocate that has

         12  advocated with our council members, previous Council

         13  Member Phil Reed, and Ms. Arroyo, and we are looking

         14  forward to Melissa Mark- Viverito's support on the

         15  capital project.

         16                 I was rather amazed to see some of

         17  our individual concerns reflected by some of the

         18  advocates, and while the Park staff are incredible

         19  and wonderful, it has come to my attention as a

         20  particular advocate in the neighborhood to wonder,

         21  should we ask for more money for the capital project

         22  because of where is it going?  What is going on?

         23  And the use of outside design consultants without

         24  consulting neighborhoods and community- based

         25  organizations that are involved with the project is

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  really troubling, so I would really- I think it was

          3  the man from D.C.37 and Council Member Gallagher's

          4  concerns are probably indicative of a widespread

          5  phenomenon that could really be looked at closely,

          6  that would really make more efficient Parks'

          7  performance, as well as their responsiveness to the

          8  community.

          9                 Nevertheless like I said, their team

         10  is really wonderful when they work on the projects.

         11  We have a lot of capital money coming for our

         12  project.  We need more money for our programs.     So

         13  , I want to make you aware through our council

         14  members Arroyo and Viverito, we are going to asking

         15  the Bronx and Manhattan delegations and all the

         16  council members to support our request for $100,000

         17  for our educational programming.

         18                 We are going to be using that to

         19  expand our operations on the Harlem River.  The

         20  council recently passed a no wave zone legislation.

         21  We look forward to being on that task force, and

         22  expanding our canoe and kayak trips on the Harlem

         23  River.              We want to create waterfront

         24  access in our neighborhood.  We are based in the

         25  south/south Bronx. People kind of stop at Yankee
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          2  stadium, they stop at the Bronx Terminal market,

          3  there is a whole other swath of the coast that goes

          4  to Randall's Island that we want to open up to

          5  recreational opportunities to alleviate the

          6  detrimental effects of the waste transfer stations.

          7  I know some of these council members have worked on

          8  very strongly to have parity, so if we are giving

          9  package deals to communities in Manhattan, for

         10  example, to alleviate the recycling or waste

         11  handling, there is no reason why we should not be

         12  getting the same treatment in the south Bronx and

         13  Harlem.

         14                 I will piggyback, I think that the

         15  council was mislead about the Yankee Stadium deal,

         16  and I hope that you will revisit it when you  have

         17  the opportunity. It is a trend that is going on.  It

         18  happened in Van Cortland Park.  It is going on with

         19  Yankee Stadium, and I am glad, Ms. Foster, you

         20  brought up the situation with Randall's Island.  It

         21  is the most egregious to me violation of public

         22  trust, and alienating a parkland.  As Juan Gonzalez

         23  recently wrote in the Daily News, you might have

         24  read, this deal was hatched during Giuliani by

         25  people who gave over $100,000 to his Republican
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          2  campaigns for senate and politics, and continued to

          3  be involved with his enterprises right now.

          4                 So, I think that with a little bit of

          5  pressure, the Bloomberg administration will not push

          6  through with it.  It was originally proposed for 12

          7  acres on Randall's Island.  It is a place that we

          8  take kids. It is a place that we go on bike and

          9  canoe tours.  It has ballooned to 26 acres.  It is

         10  on public land.  There is no reason this should be

         11  on public park land.  It should be developed

         12  somewhere else.  It could be developed right next to

         13  the waste management site in the south Bronx, for

         14  example, if it really wants to go through.

         15                 So, I encourage the council to look

         16  at that deal very strongly.  It is going to go up

         17  before the Franchise and Concessions Review

         18  Committee.  There is a lot of corruption, I will say

         19  it straightforward, I mean, the way the deal went

         20  through was corrupt, and there is no willpower in

         21  the current administration. If there is a little bit

         22  of issues made by the city council about this deal,

         23  if it is going through, definitely the issue is when

         24  they said there is a bridge from Harlem to Randall's

         25  Island, it is closed half of the year, so that is
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          2  something that could be remedied like that by the

          3  Parks Department, and we definitely need the bridge

          4  from the south Bronx to Randall's Island.

          5                 Finally, regarding Parks and police

          6  enforcement as the Commissioner brought up, they

          7  work very closely together.  We are going to be

          8  asking Council Member Quinn and everybody to hold

          9  hearing regarding the police and Parks cost for

         10  enforcing critical mass bike rides that meet in

         11  parks every month.

         12                 So I hope all the council members

         13  will get on that hearing push because it is millions

         14  of dollars being wasted to harass people using

         15  parks.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you both.

         18                 Our last speaker is Lisa Liu.

         19                 MS. LIU:  My name is Lisa Liu, and I

         20  represent myself.

         21                 This is basically my first time

         22  speaking, and I would like to say good morning to

         23  all of you.

         24                 I am sorry I came so late that I was

         25  unable to hear everybody else's testimony.  So, I am
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          2  probably just going to repeat what they said, so

          3  this is a summary, I guess.

          4                 I am hear to speak on behalf of the

          5  Parks.  The Parks do not have a voice.  They have

          6  been there for all of us. They were always there.

          7  They never turned their back on us when we needed

          8  them.  They fulfill their duties, they worked hard

          9  to improve the lives of those around them.  These

         10  citizens are simply there to serve the public.  If

         11  the citizens had a voice, they would speak.  What

         12  would they say?  They will remind us of the joyous

         13  miracles that they have witnessed that they have

         14  helped to bring about.  If these Parks had a voice,

         15  they would not need us here to speak on their

         16  behalf.  They will have long been heard and

         17  recognized as an important element of the community.

         18    They would not be left to deteriorate as they are

         19  today.

         20                 It is the duty of the City to

         21  maintain the beauty of all park squares, public

         22  places, playgrounds, other recreational properties.

         23  According to the City Charter, their job is also to

         24  plant and maintain trees.  How it is possible for

         25  the government to fulfill it obligations when there
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          2  are seven months to go until the new fiscal year and

          3  only 14 percent of the budget remains to maintain

          4  trees.  How is that possible?

          5                 Can it be said that the government is

          6  providing good service to the parks and the budget

          7  is so low that the Department is forced to only hire

          8  two pruners?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Can you talk

         10  more directly in the mic. Please, I am having a hard

         11  time hearing you?

         12                 MS. LIU:  I am sorry.

         13                 Looking at the Preliminary Budget

         14  standing, based on the November statistics of 2005,

         15  most of the current budget is used up, if you look

         16  at it.  Most of it for the Parks, the trees

         17  maintenance, there is only 14 percent left for seven

         18  months, so I do not see how that can actually take

         19  care of the parks for the rest of the year.

         20                 Also, because the government has such

         21  low funding for the Parks, they can only hire two

         22  pruners and 25 gardeners for the entire City.

         23                 New York City has the most parklands,

         24  New York City have 14 percent parklands, and New

         25  York City the greatest city, the leader for form of
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          2  individual thought, the world's financial capital,

          3  and the world's most diverse city has given a meager

          4  amount of funds for open spaces.  Many other large

          5  cities allocate more funds to their parkland than we

          6  do.  We have fallen so behind.

          7                 Looking at the Preliminary Budget, it

          8  is clear that the Parks need more funding.  When the

          9  record shows that nearly 75 percent of the budget

         10  for the year has been spent in five months, there is

         11  obviously a problem.

         12                 What money will the Department of

         13  Parks and Recreation have left when the weather is

         14  warm and children play outside?

         15                 How will they be able to maintain the

         16  conditions when people are actually using it?

         17                 When there is a lack of maintenance

         18  for Parks, park usage continues.  However, this

         19  usage is negative; crime.

         20                 When parks are not in top shape, it

         21  is easy to resent it, and dispose of it.  They will

         22  only add to the problem of too few parks.  Solving

         23  this problem will cost the City more money than

         24  maintaining it will in the first place.

         25                 Parks benefit the community in so
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          2  many ways.  They promote activity and improve

          3  health.  They provide beauty and color.  They

          4  increase real estate values.  They unite the

          5  community.  They relax the body and the mind.  They

          6  serve us all.            Does it make sense to

          7  jeopardize the health of something that serves so

          8  many and does so much good?

          9                 Most of you believe that parks are

         10  not a major issue with the public but this is not

         11  so.

         12                 When you do not hear from the

         13  citizens of our parks is not because they do not

         14  care.  They simply do not notice what is taking

         15  place.  The media, because their goal is to increase

         16  circulation through gruesome headlines, parks are

         17  unlikely to make it into the paper.

         18                 Often, parks are taken for granted

         19  because there is a misconception that they will

         20  always be there.  We do not know what it was like

         21  without parks.  Also true is that the public is

         22  lazy.  Many citizens do not vote, and do not know

         23  who their representatives are.  The public may feel

         24  passionately enough to want to promote change but

         25  they are unsure of how to do this, or they get
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          2  discouraged when things do not work out the first

          3  time.

          4                 I am here speaking on their behalf,

          5  and we ask you to help us help the parks.  However,

          6  there are citizens that do pay attention and

          7  dedicate their time to improving the greenspaces of

          8  New York.  They run non- profit organizations to

          9  promote community empowerment.  In the summer of

         10  2005, as you are all are probably aware, the park

         11  groups of New York City banded together to promote a

         12  campaign to allocate one percent of taxes to parks.

         13  Many of the council members have signed this plan.

         14                 I will also remind those of you who

         15  were here in 2001, if you have taken the New York

         16  City dog questionnaire, most of the responses to

         17  question number seven,`do you support increased

         18  funding for the Department of Parks and Recreation'

         19  was affirmative.   The situation is severely worse

         20  than five years ago. If this trend continues, it may

         21  be too late to reverse it.  Action needs to be taken

         22  now.  It is up to you to act upon you words.  We

         23  must work together to bring about a new golden age

         24  for the park system.

         25                 Parks have always played an important

                                                            132

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  role in improving the lives of the public.  They

          3  have been neglected for too long.  The parks are

          4  drowning while we watch from the shore. It is time

          5  to reverse the downward trend of park funds.  This

          6  may prove to be a difficult task but we as New

          7  Yorkers have never learned to give up.  Our

          8  generations never had the misfortune of no parks,

          9  and let us keep it that way.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         11  much.  I would encourage you to send that to the

         12  Mayor because most of what you are saying we agree

         13  with, so you are preaching to the converted, and the

         14  Mayor needs to know.

         15                 MS. LIU:  I am sorry.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Do not

         17  apologize, this is the forum.  But the Mayor needs

         18  to hear what people like yourself have to say in

         19  terms of his proposed response to the Parks budget.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 MS. LIU:  Can I ask a question?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Go ahead.

         23                 MS. LIU:  How many time would you say

         24  in the last five years have people tried to get more

         25  funding for the Parks Department, and the Mayor has
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          2  rejected it?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Every year, it

          4  happens all the time.

          5                 MS. LIU:  And why is he doing this?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  He is across the

          7  hall, and I am not being funny, that is a good

          8  question.  That is something you need to address

          9  with the Mayor, and that is why- you missed it but

         10  earlier, I call it a dance, we go back and forth.

         11  We restore, they cut, and they hope we restore,

         12  instead of baselining items.

         13                 So many of your concerns and

         14  questions need to be addressed by the Mayor or his

         15  personnel.  That is why I recommend that you send

         16  your written statement to him.

         17                 MS. LIU:  So basically, he is

         18  rejecting this without giving a reason?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Basically, but

         20  we can have- as soon as we end this meeting, we can

         21  have a further conversation and I can direct you in

         22  the right direction to get your questions answered.

         23                 I think a lot of times the council

         24  is- you have access to us, so these questions and

         25  concerns you have that look like they are city
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          2  council actions, but are in fact, actions of the

          3  Mayor are addressed in this forum, and again, I will

          4  repeat again, that is why I encourage you to send in

          5  your written statement, so the Mayor knows what

          6  citizens like yourself are thinking in terms of his

          7  proposed cuts to the Parks Department budget.

          8                 MS. LIU:  Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         10                 MS. LIU:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  There being no

         12  more testimony, this meeting is adjourned.

         13                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:42 p.m.)
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